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Flle No 34819

The directors of GPT Management Limited, the Responsible Entity of General Properly Trust and GPT Split Trust, prasent thelr report _
together with the financial reports of Generat Properly Trust and GPT Sphit Trust for the financial year ended 31 December 2004 and
the Audit Reparis thereon.

Directors ) .
The following persens were directors of GPT Management Limiled during the financial year:

Richard Longes {resigned 24 November 2004} : Peter Joseph (appoinied Chairman 24 November 2004)
" Enc Goodwin (appomled 24 November 2004) Malcolm Latham
Ken Moss Brian Norris
Eiizabeth Nosworthy Ross Taytor {appointed 28 Aprit 2004 and
resigned 24 November 2004)
Trust

Generat Property Trust (GP’T
GPT comprises General Property Trust (Parent Endity), its controlied enimes and jeint mmershfp vehxc‘les s disclosed in Note 1910
the consolidated financiat statements

GPT Splﬁ Trust
The Trust comprises GPT Spm Trusf

Principal Activity

The prindipal aclivity of GPT is to investin Envéstment properties,
The priacipat activity of GPT Spit Trust s to invest in GPT units.
Review of Operations and Changes in the State of Affairs
Financial Resulls

GPT
The operating result of GPT for the ﬁnafmal yearended 31 December 2004 is a profit of $426 4 million
{Dec 2003: $420.2 million).

GPT Spiit Trust -
The operating result of GPT Spiit Trust for the financial year ended 31 December 2004 is a profit of §4,621 ﬂwusand
{Dec 2003 $4,717 thousand).

Eamings per Unit

GPT

The earnings per unit (before lesses on disposal of pmpemes and costs related lo the proposed merger with Lend Lease and the bid’
for GPT by Stockdand) for the financiat year ended 31 December 2004-was 22.0 conts {Dec 2003: 21.6 cents),

During the Bnancial year, GPT acguired Darling Paik Stage 3n Sydney, a site adjoining Homemaker Cily Forlitude Valley In |
Brishane, The Quad 4 fand at Homebush Bay, 8 Herb Elfiot and 7 Figtree Drive at Homebush Bay and the Joint Venture nvestment
Agreement with the Commonwealth Bank of Austratia re Sunshine Plaza was unwound. GPT also aequired, in conjunction with
'Voyages Hetels & Resorts Ply Limited, P&O Austealian Resorts portfolio which includes Sitky Oaks Lodge and the Dunk, Bedarra,
Brarapton, Lizacd, Heron and Wilsoa Esland resorts, all located in Queenstand as well as Cradle Mountain Lodge in Tesmania. All
properties are now owned by GPT, with the exception of Brampion and Lizard lsiand Resorts which are owned by Voyages Hotels &
Resorts Pty Limited. In addition, IKEA Building Prospect, Sydney and Homemaker City Springwood, Brisbane were divested.

GPT responded to a merget propdsal from Lend Lease Corporation Limiled, resolutions 1o approve this proposal were put to
snitholders at a meeting on 17 November 2004 the proposals did not recaive the raqu-red majonty vole therefore the merger did not
proceed. .

On 8 November 2004, the Stockand erp announced an unsoficited {akeover offer for GPT, the offer is subyect o a riwnbev of
condifions. As at 10 February 2005 Stgckland had recelved acceplances of less than 0.9% of GPT units and has extended the time
for acceptance of its offer 1o 4 March 2005. GPT's response to the Stockland offer is set out In its Target Statement of 22 December
2004 and First Supplementary Target Statemend of 24 January 2005. The GPT Diredlors continue to recommend that unnho!ders do
not aocept the Slockland offer.

GPT Splsl Tmst
The eamings per unit for the financial year ended 3 Deoember 2004 was 19.0 cenis per lncome Unit (Dec 2003: 18.8 cenls) and 3.0
*“cents per Growth Unit (Dec 2003: 2.4 cents}

Distributions

GPT . ’
The Responsible Entity has delermined the paymem of adIstﬂbut:on for the ﬁnanc:al year ended 31 December 2004 of 22.0 cents
- per unit { Dec 2003: 21,2 cents).

_ GPT Spiit Trust

The Responsible Entity has determined the payment of a distribuion for the financial year ended 31 Dacember 2004 of 19.0 cents
per Income Unit (Dec 2003; 12.8 cents) and 3.0 cents per Growth Unit {Dec 2003: 2.4 cents).
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Directors' Report (Continved)

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

The directors are nol aware of any matter or circumstance occurrng since the end of the financlal year ot othervwise dealt with in this
repart or accounts that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Trusts, the resulls of thelr operations or the
state of affairs of the Trusts in subsequent financial years. In making this statement in respect of events subsequent to balance date
the conflicted direttors have relied upon assurances provlded by non conflicted directors.

" Directors’ Benefits

“No director of the R}esponsible Entify has received or become entiled Lo receive any benefit from the Trusts during the ﬁnandal"year
by reason of a contract made by the Responsibie Entity or a refated corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is
a member, or with an eatity in which the director has a subistantiz! financial interest.

lndemniﬁcation and Insurance of Officers

Mo insurance premiums are pald out of the assels of the Trusts for insurance cover provided to the Responsible Entity of the-
auditors of the Trusts. As fong as the officers of the Responsitie Entity act in accordance with the Trust Deeds and the Law, the
Responsile Enlity remains fudly indemnified out of the assets of the Trusls against any losses Incurred while acting on behalf of
the Trusts. The auditors are in no way indermnified out of the assets of the Trusts.

‘Rounding of Amounts

GPT

The amounts disclosed in the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with Class Order 98/010Q issued by the Australian
Securities & Investments Commission, pursuant to which, unless otherwise indicated, tr»e amounts in the Direclors' Report have bean
rounded to the | nearest tenth of a million dollars.

GPY Sp;ﬂ Trust

The amounts disclosed in the Directors' Report have been preparad in accordance with Class Order 98!(]100 issued by the Agstralian
Seawrities & invesiments Commission, pursuant to whnch unless otherwise indicated, the amounts In the Directors' Report have been
rounded 1o the nearest thousand dadiam

Environmental Regulation

The diréctors are satisfied that there are no significant issues that curmnﬁy have animpact on the Trusts. A reporl on environmental

initiatives In each of GPT's praperty portioos is found elsevihere in the Annual Report.
interests in Trusts .

The movement in unils in the Trusts during the year is set out below

31 Doc 2004 31 Dec 2003
GPT .
Units issued during the year . 67,000,000 -
Units redeemed during the year - -
Units on issue al year end. 2.016,716,610 1,249,716,610
GPT Spfit Trust Units
tUnils issued during the year ) - ~

. Unills redeemed during the year _ ‘ {1,276.970) .. (503463)
Units on issue at year end ’ - 20,832,742 22,109,712
Yalue of Assets

GPT
Tha value of GPT's assels as at 31 December 2004 is $9,087.0 mlfﬁon {Dec 2003: $7,695.1 miflion), derived on the basls set out i in
Note 1 1o the financial stalements.

GPT Split Trust
The value of GPT Spiit Trust's assels as at 31 December 2004 s 584 082 thousand (Dec 2003: 361 554 thousand}, derived on the
basls set outin Note 1o (he ﬁnanclal slalsments.

Fees Pald to and Interests Held in the Tn:sas by the Responsible Entity

GPT . . ) :
Fees pald 1o the Respansible Entity and its Assoclates out of GPT property during the financial year are disclosed in.Note 3 to the
financiat stalements. No foes were paid out of GPT to the direstors of the Responsible Enfity during the financial year.

~ GPT Spi{ Trust :
No Responsible Entity fees have been charged agains! GPT Split Trust during the financial year as dxsclvsed in Nole 7 {o the
financiad statements. No fees were paid ot of GPT Spiit Trust to the directors of the Responsible Entity during the financia! year.

31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
Units held by GPT Managemeni Limited in GPT Spiit
Trust . . 1,000 1,000

Ulkely Developments and Expecled Results of Operations

Further information on likety developments In the operation of the Trusts and the expected results of those operations have not been -

inchuded in this report because the Responsible Entity believes it would be ikely o result in unreasonable prejudice to the Trusis.
2
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Directars’ Report (Continued)

. Executives’ & Directors’ Disclosures
{a). Compensation Paiicy
Directors and 'Senior Executives

' All GFT Management Limited dlrecsors executives and employees are paid by Lend Lease Cerparation. GPT Management Limited receives
a fee for managing GPT.

Lend Lease’s Compensation and Benefits Palicy is determined by the Lend Lease Board's Persormed and Organisation Commiltee (P&C
Comaittee). The policy is to reward Senfor Execttives with market competitive compensation and benefils, taking into account the
performance of the individual, GPT and Lend Lease, In assessing these benchmarks, Lend Lease takes account of expert advice and the
relevant extemal comparatars in the reat estale and related sectors.

Lend Lease's approach {o executive compensation is to provide a balance of fixed and pcrfo:mance based ¢ash elements with an emphasis
on increasing-‘at fsk’ compensation for Senios Exkcutives and Executive Directars, Gutkned below are the elements and the philosophy
behind them.

Compensation paid by Lend Lease is designed to be appropnate and compelitive on such issues as incamlves pensions, superamuatton
2and other benefils,

. Base Salary

Salaries are sel al competitive levels, ftargeted af median ayainst comparable comparies, with annual seviews to reflect market conditions

" and personal performance. For guidance, the P&0 Committee and various business based executives use Information avaflable in published
job matched surveys of similar compantes. As appropriate, they afso commission surveys to supplement the published information. To
ensure proper process is followed for all senior execulives, all proposed packages for direct reports of the Lend Lease Executive
Management Team members require prior approvad from the Lend Lease Chiel Executive Officer (CEQ).

The salaries of the Executive Directors and Specified Execulives are set by the P&G Commiliee. These are detesmined in July of each year,
The Committee is assisted in this review by The Lend Lease Cotparation CEQ and the Head of Human Resources.

" Short Term Incentives (STis}y .

Annual borus payments are based upon actual achievement measured against challenging financial, corporate and individual performance .
targets approved by the P&O Committee. Although the performance criteria are dmexent for each executive, the principles are similar and

. tnvolve assessment of performance across thiee areas:
- Fingncial — acmevement of profitsbility, eamings, total shareholder return and other refevant financial targets;
- Personal ~ achievement of personal objectives refated lo specilic non-financlal business largets; and
- Enviropment, Health and Safety ~ a number of Senior Executives are alse measured and rewarded according to tha Group's
performance on Environment, Health and Salety Key Performance ind icators and thedr perscnal commitment to them.

if the full target bonus is eamed, annual cash compensation will ndrmally reach the upper guarlils of the refevant empk)yment markel
Annusal bonuses may be awarded in a number of ways:

- Cash

- Shares o awards issued under Lend Lease Employee Share Flans (ESP).

Long Term Incentives (LTls)

The curent Long Term incenlives were introduced and approved b)" the Board in 1999 and updated and extended in 2001, 2002, 2003, and
2004,

LTI grands are normally made in July each year and are based on compefitive remuneration praclice. Grants also depend upon personal

contribution and poteniial, and ate designed to retain and motivate high performing and key execulives. The LTis are in the form of an

Australian doflar figure ‘grant’, which is notianally ‘invested’ over time to deliver value depending on:

- whether the execulive remains with the Group — if the execulive resigns before vesting, the grant will lapse;

- whether performance hurdies are achieved over the plan period ~ i the hurdies are not achleved, the grant will lapse; and

- the performance of the Lend Lease share price — the value of the grant on maturity, assuming performance hurdies have been met, wil
" be determined in part by the rise in the Lend Lease share price. Current plans have hundles which require above median performance

againsl a basket of Lend Lease’s peer group companies (with 25% vesting at median performance iising o 100% at 75th percentile).

LTis are a cash programme with payments made upon maturity if performance hurdies are met.

Under the 2001 and 2002 LTIs, a Senior Executive' s initiat dollar *grant’ is nomzaliy aliocated equally, oromemse al lhe discrelaon of the
Sentor Executive of Board, between: -

- Performance Shares (PSs) - the value of these will rise or fall with the value of Lend Lease shares; and

- Share Apprecialion Righis (SARs) - these are payable only if the price of Lend Lease shares st the date of maturity is bigher than at
the date of the grant. The Sew Executive vill receive nothing In raspect of these dghts if the share price is lower than the price at the date
of the grant.




Dircctors' Report {Continued)

Executives’ & Directors’ Disclosures {continued}
{a)} Compensation Policy (mnﬁnued)
Long Term Incentives (L.Tis) (contmued)

For the purpeses of the allocation, PSs are altributed & value equivalent to the Lend Lease share price at or about the date of the a!locabon
white SARs ase vaiued al approximately one third of PSs, which reflects their grealer risk profite.

Under the 2003 and 2004 LTJ, the initial grant was made solely in PSs.

Retention Awards

When ihe Board bedieves that an employee is an oulstanding perforer and that Lend L sase Corporation and its shareholders will gain from
incentivising him or her fo remain with Lend Lease, a etention award may be made.

Superanauation/Pension Plans

Pension plan arranQements are In place. In the past, Senlor Execufives (and other employees) joined either a defined benefit ei a defined
conlribution plan. Entsy into all defined benefit plans has now ceased acress the Group, All new Execflive Direclors and Senior Execulives :
have the opportunity to join defined contribution plans. . L 1

) Ro:n Executive Diractors

. .Compensation Palicy

Dlrectors’ fees have been sef at $80.000 per annum for each Direclor covering all GPT Management board dutles. The Chairman's fees are
two times the standard fees paid to a Direclor and the Chairrnan of the Audit & Risk Management Committeé recelves an additional $20,000
per annum. Other members of the Audit & Risk Managemen! Commiites receive $15,000 per annum. These Directors’ fees are only payable
1o non executive directors other than Eric Goodwin, wha recelves remuneration fram Lend Lease on a per diem basis under a separate
consunancy agreement. '

All Darectors fees are pald by GPT Managemml and not by GPT.

Peter Joseph, Matcolm Latham, Ken Moss and Elizabeth Nosworthy received addilional amounts for the period from 24 May 2004 to17’
November 2004 of $180,000, $72,000, $60,000 and $60,000 respectively for considerabie additional work underiaken in relation to the Lend
tease Corporation/GPT merger proposal. For the period from 6 August 2004, supplementary per diem fees of $2,060 have been paid o Mr
Latham, Mr Moss and Ms Nosworthy, and $6,000 has been paid {o Mr Joseph, for preparation for and attendance at each substantive
meeling. Addntlonal overseas travel ime is paid at $2,000 per day,

a g P

Beian Nonis Is a non execulive direclor of Lend Leasa Real Estate Investments Limited and receives remuneraﬂm from Lend Laase in that
capacily. Mr Nomis is also entitied 10 a retirement benefit (2004: $208,967) from GPT Managament equal to the total of the Director's fees
- paid fo him during the three year period prior fo his retirement. Mo other directors are entitled to raigement benefits.

R
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Executives’ & Directors' Disclosures {continued)

{b} Remuneration Datails
Detalis of the remuneration of the directors of GPT Management Limited and specified axecutives of GPT for tha ypar ended 31 Detember 2004 ara st gut in the Following blcs: :
Primary Post Employmem Equity Other Banefits Teral
Shoct Torm  Long Term -
eentive  fncentive Non Super~  Retwement .
Salacy & Fees  Boous’ Bonus  Monolary  annustion  Beneflts - ESPAOther Termination Prescribed  Dec 2004
. 3 $ $ 3 3 $ _ 3 s 3 3
Specified Directors
Exscutive Dirpctors ]
Hon Conlinuing ‘
Ross Taylor (appointed 28 . ;
Aptit 2004, retined 24 . .
Hosembar 2004) 428,100 450,347 259,501 3,733 39,650 L 18,941 ] aQ 1,198 842
426,100 450,997 259,561 3,733 33,650 ] 18,941 1 [ 1,198,842
Non Executive Directors™
Continving k
Peler Joseph - Chalmman 268,750 258,750 ;
Eric Gondwin (appointed 24
Hovember 2004} 4,000 4,000
Malcolm Latham 132,000 132,000
Ken Moss 140,000 140,000
Brian Nonfs 80,000 , 80,000
ERzabeth Naserorthy 135,600 135,000
. 743,750 [} 8 [ ] ¢ 9 [] [ 749,750
Non Continuing
Richard Longes - Chainman .
{retired 24 Rovember 2004} 110.000 . 119,000
110,060 G 0 [ [] 0 q e ] 110,000
Total Specified Directors B3.B50 5 T 853 33,650 — 0 38,547 (] ] 2,658,552
"1 Employedby Lend Lease Managemeant Services Limited. Discloswre refers o the pericd of ime served as a Director 'on the GPT Board. Bonuses and other
payments have been pra-rated over this fime uniess eamed directly within this period. Ross Taylor's pimary rulu:s in monaging the Asla Pacific and Amesicas
tusinesses for Lend Lease.
2. Sglary and Fees for Nan Executive D1rsctons inchedes Jees for attending, chamng and traveling o Board 2nd Boa‘d Committee mesfings.
3 Al Short Tesm kncentive bomuses have been paid in cash and besed upon the p \ob €riteria a5 Cutined in Section 23a. Bonuses relste to the ful
year ended 30-June-2004; as the six montfs 19 31 Decembaer 2004 Is not determinable 2t feporting dote.
Post .
. Primory Employment  Equity Other Benefits Total
Short Term  png Term
. Incentive  incentive Moo Super- .
Sotary 3 Fees  Boms' Bomss  Monotary | annuation ESPIGher Temmination Prescribed Other Dec 2004
' : $ ‘3 3 $ $ s 3 3 3 $
-Specified Executives - -
Continuing : . H
Nic Lyons - CEQ - 455,632 377025 212,034 BANC 38,932 12.807 .0 a o 1,102,890 i
Michae! G'Brian » Fung . ;
Manager 335,235 16D,337 $4,386 12,2833 29,730 1393 0. 1] 0 519,232 :
Kiron Pryke - CFO 258,253 91599 25487 6,400 22441 30,405 0 . ¢ 0 495,595 :
Donna Byme - bivestor ’ . -
Relations and Marksting . . .
Manager . . 182379 68,502 14,285 0 15,655 7.285 .0 4] Q 285,986
James Coyne - Ganeral
-Counsel and Secrtary : .
{oppainted 1 July 2004} 108,970 28 8B L 75 8,233 4,362 0 0 b 150,446
1335059 735,069 306,152 . 25,108 114,351 43,560 D ] [ 2,574,142
Noa Continuing
tEchas] Neitson < General :
Counset and Secretary (rafired - 4 .
30 June 2004) 122,187 49,047 o 9.188 10,452 5,255 18.574 0 0 214,701
: 122,187 43,047 9,188 10,452 5,255 18,574 [ 1] 214,701
Total Specified Exocutives 1,468,256 782,196 - 308, "lﬁ ﬁm iiﬁg 53,555 [ [] 2,7

18,574

% Al Shon Term Incentive bonuses have been #aid i £ash and based upon thy perfommance criteris 25 outined in saction 232, Bonuses rate 1o the ffl
year ended 30 June 2004, as the six manths 1o 33 December 2004 is not detenminable at reporting date. )




Directors' Report {Continued)

Executives’ & Directors’ Disclosures {continued)
(e} Long Term Incentives

Performance Shares {PS), Retention Shares and Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR) Year Ended 31 Decamber 2004

Awasg Value
Expiry of atGrand
Senvice  Performance ~ Ingentive Granl  Exercise’  Exercise Prics®  Number Date
Ceileria Criteria Granted’ Dafe Date _§ Granted $
‘Specified Executives . . .
) Nic Lyons ‘ Critenia 1 Criteria 2 PS July 2003 June 2008 NA 23,818 203,520
Criteria 1 Criteda 2 PSS July 2004 June 2007 NA 41,477 428,395
WMichael O'Bren . : “Ciiteria 1 Ceteria B8 iy 2002 June 2008 WA . 7733 £5.997
. - Kieran Pryke Criteria 1 Ciiteda 3 tLc “July 2002 June 2002 N/A 3,987 41,864
Criteria 1 Criterla 3 SAR Suly 2002 June 2005 10.50 13,955 41,864
. Dunna Byme © Critena 1 Crileria 3 iLC July 2002 June 2005 NA 2229 23,405
Crilena 1 Criteria 3 ) SAR July 2002 June 2005 10.50 7,802 23,405

James Coyne . . Nit Nil Nit nat Nil Ny ) Nil INil

1 Performance Shates {PS), Retenlion Shares {LLC) or Stock Appretiation Rights (SAR).
2 Performance and Retention shares do not have an exercise price, as thay are paid out al the share pnce at exercise date.
Ross Tayler s not mc!uded due {o reténng from the Board 24 November 2004,

‘Criteria 1: " Forfeilure on rasignation or termination. Pro-rata on other sendice cessafion.

Criteria 2; . Total Shareholder Retum (TSR) of Lend Lease Corporalion Shares at or above median when compared to the TSR for 18 compamlor
vrganisations,

Criteda 3:  Bepsandent upon the execuuve remaining with Lend Lease uniil the vasting date.

(d} Equity Hotdings and Transastions

'GPT Unitholdings Year Ended 31 December 2004. _ o
‘ : Unlts Recsived Other Net .
Units Held 1 as Change lo  Units Held
Jan 2004 Remuneration Units 31 Dec 2004

Hon Executive Directors

Peter Joseph 50,000 50,000
Eric Goodwin (appolnted 24 . ‘
November 2004} Nt ’ N
Malcolm Latham 13,195 : 13,135
Richard Longes (retired 24 .
November 2004)" 15,702 ] N/A
Ken Moss : 25,000 .. 25000
Brian Norris . 4,007 4,097
Elizabeth Noswuorthy 5,000 5,000
Specified Execuiives ) .
Nic Lyons : . ‘ : Nit
Michael O'Brien’ - Nit il
Kieran Pryke . 53 53
Donna Byme : 10,600 {10,000) Hil
James Coyne . ) Nit ’ ’ Nl
Michiael Naiison {vetired 30 June :
2004)’ _ ) N . NA
123,047 0 {10,000) - 97,345

1 Holding not disclosed as at 31 December 2004 dus fo retirement from the board during the year.
Ross Taylor's holdings have not been disclosed due 10 his pering of service on the Board falling during the 2004 vear.

{e} Sénrice Agreements

Specified Exocutwe Birectors and Execuﬁves

The major pravisions of the service agreements held with the specified Execulive Diractors and Executives are as follows:

- there are eo fixed terms of agreement;

- standard nolice periods apply;

- remuneration s revigwed annually. Refer to Note 23a for further details and conditions;

- executives are eligible for SThs. Refer to Noté 23a for further details and conditions;

- -exscutives are sligible for LTI Refer to Notes 23a and 23 fos further delails and condilions;

- Unfess othenvise stated fermination payment includes base salary for remainder of notice period not served {up 1o 12 months), pm rated s
entilements and LTI enlitlements per LTi rules.

Specifiad Non Executive Directors
lndapandeni Direclors are endorsed by Unitholders upon appointment and evefy three years thereaﬂer
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Dated al SYONEY this 10th day of Febryary, 2005

‘Signed in acpordance with a resolution of the directors.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52780 433 757

. Darling Park Tower 2
"201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia
| AWW.DWE.oom/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000

- Auditors’ Independence Declaration | Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

Direct Phone 82663948
Direct Fax 82863948

As auditor for the audit of General Property Trust and GPT Spht Trust for the: ycar ended
31 December 2004, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

‘ a) no contraventions of the auduor mdependence requirements of the Corporations Act

2001 in relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional . conduct in relanon to the '
audit,

This declaratlon 1§ in respect of General Pmperty Trust, the entities it controlled during the

' .penod and GPT Spm Trust.
" Richard Deutsch o | ~ sydney
- Partner o ' ' " 10 February 2005

PricewaterhouseCoopers




General Property Trust and its Conirolled Entities

Statements of Financial Performance
Year ended 31 December 2004

Consclidated - GPT

31 Dec 2004 310ec 2003 31Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
Note $m o $m tm
Statement of Financlal Performance
Revenue | . .
Rents . . 660.8 8605.9 3049 288.3
Inferest - Joint venture investment arrangements 4.0 - 45 40 ' 45
Interest - Cash and short term money market securities 74 5.0 38 32
Proceeds on disposal of units in listed property trust . - 442 - - 412
Proceeds on disposal of properties 20.5 - - -
Distributions from controlied entities and assodiates - © 8529 298.3
Share of net profits of associates . 19 883 G37 - - -
Cther income . - 13 - ) 13
Ravenue ' 780.8 .. 1216 6656 - -§36.8-
Expenses : . . :
Rates, taxes and other proparty outgaings o 146.4 138.2 70.8 67.8
Repairs and maintenance : ’ RRE: 2 9.1 54 44
Provision for doubtful debts ‘ 0.1 05 - @.1) 4.5
Audit and accounting fees -3 0.8 a8 0.7 a8
. Borrowing costs : : ' 1187 80.2 187 802
" Responsible Entity's fee 3. 355 25.6 218 18.5
Book value of units in listed property trust . ) - LAz - 432
" Book value of property investments sold ) . 19.8 - - -
Costs associated with merger proposals . T 185 - 16.5 -
 Other expenses . ‘ ) 5.8 5.8 54 - 5.2
" Expenses : : ’ 354.4 301.4 239.2 - 2168
- Net Operating Income : 426.4 420.2 426.4 420.2
Increase in asset revaluation reserve 15 §79.2 235.0 - 579.2 235.0
Total revenues, expenses and valuation adJustments aitributable ' . : N
o members of the parent entity recognised direclly in equity §79.2 2350 - 5792 .2350
Total changes in equity other than those resulting from . o ‘
transactions with Unitholders as owners . 1,005.6 655.2 1,005.8 655.2
) Cents Cents
Basic earnings per unit afier profit on disposal of properties .
and costs associated with merger proposals 18 213 . 216 -
Basic earnings per unit before profit on disposal of properties : .
and costs associated with merger ptoposals . : 18 _ 22.0 21 .6

The above Slatemenis of Financial Performance should be read irt conjunction with the accompnnymg notes.

Sm $m $m $m

Distribution

Net Operating Income - 426.4 420.2 426;4 420.2
Undistributed income at the beginning of the fi nandial vear 78 0.7 18 07
‘Transfer from reserves 15 158 - ) 15.8 -
Transfer rom equity 14 2.6 - . 28 -
Total available for distribution ' : 452.2 420.9 4522 420.9
Distribution paid and payable 2 {443.6) {(413.3) - (443.9) (413.3)

Undistributed income at the end of the financiat year 86 7.6 86 76




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Statements of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2004
Consolidated GPT
31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 11 Dec 2004 31.Dec 2003
Note $m $m ' $m §m
Current Assets
Cash 50.9 44.0 45.2 42.5
Reaceivables 4 58.9- - 460 16.5 209
Other 5 13.5 14.8 10.1" 10.3
123.3 . 104,86 718 737
‘Non«éurrent Assets ‘
" Investment properties 6 8,866.2 7.478.9 8,867.8 7.500.4
Investment in associates (masterplanned ' »
urban communities) 8 11.5 6.5 - -
Other assets .9 96.0 105.1 - 50.9 74.6
) 8,073.7 . 75905 8,918.8 7,575.0
Total Assets 9,007.0 7,695.1 - 8,990.6 76487
Current Liabilities _ . : .
Payables e ] 10 102.1 147.3 87.3 100.9
Interest bearing fiabilities 1 1,671.6 7750 1,070.0 775.0
Provisions 12 - C 1129 105.3 . 112.9 105.3
1,376.6 10276 1,270.2 981.2
Non-current Liabilities’
Interest bearing liabilities 13 1,627.0 1,352.0 1,627.0 1,352.0
' . - 1,627.0 1,352.0 1,627.0 13520
thal Liab#lities » 3,003.6 23796 2.897.2 23332 -
Net Assets 6,093.4 53155 6.093.4 5315.5
-Equity .
Contribu’_ted equity 14 4,598.5 4,400.8 4,588.5 4,400.8
Asset revaluation reserve 15 1,486.3 8071 1,486.3 8071
Undistributad income 8.6 : ) 76 - 88 16
Total Equity 18 6,093.4 53155 6,083.4 5,315.5

The above Statements of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Thf above Statements of Cash Flows should be read in con]uncfzmz with the accomparnying notes.

11

Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2004
Consolidated GPT
Note 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec2003  31Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
$m $m $m ] $m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts in the course of operanons (moluswe of
goods and services lax) 6985 610.2 - 326.0 320.8
Cash payments in the course of operations (inclusive of :
goods and services tax) . {276.2) (186.7) - {139.4) (114.0)
Interest received - 94 i44 " 6.0 7.6
Distributions received from controlled entities - . 308.0 298.3
Distributions received from associates 90.9 56.3 49.1- © O (71.4)
. : 522.6 4942 648.7 514.3
Borrowing costs {132.5} (97.5} (132.5) (37.5)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 17 390.1 398.7 4162 416.8
Cash flows from investing activities ‘
Payments for property investmenis {748.5) {732.1) (172.8) (147.8)
Proceeds on disposal of property investments 205 . - -
(increase)decrease in property deposils 74.6 (4.6) 746 {4.6)
{Increase) in masterplanned arban communities and ’ :
other assets (10.0) - (26.1) - (26.1)
. {Increase)decrease in other loans {65.7) 79. (48.1) -
" Investments in controlled entities and associates . - {575.9) {692.4)
Loan {to)from controlied entities - - 25.8) (0.8}
- Proceeds on disposal of unils in listed property trust - . 442 - 41.2
Investment in units in listed property trust - - {41.2) ~ (41.2) .
Net cash outflow from investing activities (719.1) (754.9} (747.8) (771.5)
. Cash flows from financing activities . _
Net Short Term Notes issued 200 2390 200 239.0
Net Commercial Bills issued 1316 - 130.0 -
Net Medium Term Notes issued 420.0 5270 . 420.9- .527.0
Proceeds from issue of units 200.3 - 200.3 . -
Distributions paid (436.0) . (409.4) . '(436.0) (409.4)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 3359 356.6 334.3 356.6
Nét increase in cash 5.9 {1.6) 27 19
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 44.0 456 425 40.8
Cash at the end of the financlal year 17 50.9 44.0 452 425

o oA IS




General Proﬁaty~Tmst and its Controlled Enfities

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2004

()

{b)

(c}

Summary of accounting poiiciés

Basis of preparation - .
This generat purpose financial report for the year ended 31 December 2004 bas been prepared in accordance with the Trust Constitution,

-Accounting Standards, other mandatory professional reporting requirements (Urgent [ssues Group Consensus Views), other authoritative

proncuncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board; and the Corporations Act 2001 in Australla. 1 is prepared on the basis
of the going concem and historical cost.conventions and has nol been adjusted to take account of either changes in the general
purchasing power of the dollar or changes in the values of spacific assets, except to the extend that Generat Property Trust ('GPTY)
propesty invesiments have been revalued. The accounting policies adopled are consistent with those of the previous year unless
ctherwise speorﬁed Comparative information has been redlassified where appropriate to enhance comparabiity.

Principles of consolldatron

The consclidated financiat statements incorporate ali the assets, abililies and net operating results of the controlied entiies. GPT and its
confrolied entilies Wgelher are refemed 1o in this financial report as the Trust. The effects of all ransactions between contrelied entities in
the Trust have been eliminated in 8.

Certaln praperly investmants are held via jolnt cwnership arrangements (refer Note 26). These joint ownership arrangements indude the
ownership of units in single purpose unlisted trusts over which GPT exercises sipnificant influence but does not control {'Associates’).

The Trust has adopted the equity method of accounting for its property Investments held yia-}\ssédales in accordance with Aceomt_ing -
Standard AASB 1018: Accounting for Investments in Assodiates. The Responsible Entiy belisves that including this information in the
Trust Investment Properties note (Note §) appropriately reflects the nature and subistance of the Trus{s operations. ’

Accountlng for acquisitions
On the acquisition of propesty trusts, the fair value of the consideration is compared with the fair value of the assets acquired. Any '

' discount or goodwill arising on acqms«ﬂan is accounted for In accordance with AASB 1013: Accounting lor Goodwill.

(d)

Irwestmen( properties -

* The Trust Compliance Plan requires that all Trost pmperty investments be valued at intervals af not more than three years and that such

valuations be reflected in the fnandial report ofthe Trust Itis the policy of the Responsitle Enfity 1o review the carrying value of each -
propery every six menths. independent valuations of the individual investments are carried out each three years in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and the Trust Constitution, or eardier wheve the Respons&b!e Entity believes there may be a material change inthe
camying value of the property.

A revaluation increment is ¢redited dinacliy to the asset revaluation reserve, unless it is reversing a previous decre‘m ent charged as an
expense in the Statement of Finandial Performance in resped of that same dlass of assets, in which case the Increment is redited 1o the

- Statement of Financlal Performance.

A revalua%ioﬁ decrament is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Financial Perfarmance, unless it is reversing a revaluaGon

- incremertt previously credited o, and still induded in the balance of, the asset revaluation reserve in respect of that same class of assets,

In which case it is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve.

Some property invastments are held through the ownership of units in single purpose unlisted trusts where GPT exerts significant
influence but does not have a controling intersst. The Trust has adopted the equity method for these Assodates (refer Nots 1{b)). The
property and other properly refated net assets of the Assodiates have been disclosed separately in Note 6. (nvesiments in masterplanned
urban communilies which have baen acenuntad for using the equity method have been disclosed separately in Note 8.

interests hekd by GPT in controlled trusts and assodated lrusts are brought to account ai valuation based on the net tangible asset
backing at the end of each quarter.

Lanxt and buildings have the function of an investment and are regarded as a composite asss!. The appiimbte Accounting Standards do
not require that investrenl properties be deprediated. Accordingty, the buildings and any component thereof {induding integral plant and
equipmant) ara not depraciated.

Expenses capitalised to properties may rndude the cost of acquisition, additions, xefurb;shments redevelopments, borrowing costs and
fees incurred.
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- General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of accounting policies (Continued) -

{e

~—

Financizal Instruments

Bank bilt and money market investments are reported at historic cost. As It is the ntention to hold these instruments to maturity they are

not revalued to market. Interest accrued at balance date is included in the accounts as a raceivable. Inierest rate swaps are énly -

endered into to protect the Trust from variable interest rates. These fransactions are accounted for on an accruals basis over the Hfe of

the facility that they are hedging. The Trust has dlassified as current liabilities short term note borowings and medium term notes

expiring within one year, notwithstanding that the Trust may hedge the inferest rate exposure beyond one year and the fact that the Trust
_ maintamns stand-by facilities to provide liquadity backup for the short term/medium term nofe programme as desmbed in Note 20.

() Revenue

Revenue from rents and interest is broughl lo account on an accruals basis. Revenue not received at balance date is included in the
aceountsas a recelvable. The Trusls proportionale share of net operating resuls of Associates is included in the netincome available
{or distribution when eamed. Such income has been saparately disclosed in the Statement of Financial Performance.

- (g} Leasing costs

Initial direct leasing costs are amortised over the {erm of the respective keases.

(h) Other expenditure
Other expenditure, inchuding rates, taxes, Inferest and other oufgomgs is brought to acoount on an accruals basis.

. (i} - Income tax’
Under cument lax legislation the Trustis not liable for income tax, provided ils taxable intome and laxab%e reansed gains ame fuily
distributed to Unitholders each year.
- ) Cash ﬂaws
For the purposes of the Slatement of Cash Flows, cash indudes cash at bank, deposits at call and short term money market securities
which ara readly. converied into cash.
[13] Dlstnbuhons

- Distributions are paid to Unitholders each quarter. Provision is made for the amount of any distribution dedared, determined o publicly
recommended by the directors on or before the end of the inanciat year but not distribited at balance date. .

() Borrowing costs . .
' Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the pericd in which they are incurred, excpt where they are Included In costs of
quslifying assets {an asset that takes a substantial pariod of time to get ready for ks intended purpose) - refer Note 1(d).

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount.of borrowmg costs tobe wp:tahsed is the we:ghted average interest rate applicable
to the entity’s development barrowings during the year, in this case 6.92% {2003: 6.78%)

: Bonowing costs include:
- Interest on short term and fong term borrowings,
«~  Amortisation of discounts of pramiums relating to boirowings, ‘and .
" "= Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred In connection with the arrangsment of borrowings.

_{m) Rounding

The financial report of the Trust has been prepared in accordance with Class Qrder 98/0100 :ssued by the Australian Securities &
Invesiments Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off of amounts in the financial report fo the nearest tenth of a million dollars unless
otherwise stated. Amounts have been rounded off in the finandial report In accordance w:‘th that Class Order.
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General Property Trust and its Contralled Entities

Notes te Financial Statements

Consolidated o GPT

31 Dec 2004 31D0ec2003  31Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
$m Sm $m $m
2. Distributions
In respect of the six months enﬁed 39 June 2004
‘Distribution of 5.4 cenls per unit pald on 23 May 2004 '
{23 May 2003: 5.2 cents) 108.9 101.4 108.9 1014
- Distribistion of 5.5 cents per unit payabla on 23 Aug 2004 .
(25 Aug 2603: 5.3 cents) 110.9 103.3 110.9 103.3
Distribution for the six months ended 30 June 2004
10.9 cents per unit (30 Jun 2003: 10.5 cents) 2198 . 204.7 219.8 204.7
in respect of the six months ended 31 December 2004
Distribution of §.5 cents per unit paid on 22 Nov 2003 ‘ . o o
(21 Nov 2003: 5.3 cents) 1108 103.3 110.9 103.3
Distribution of 5.6 cents per unit payable on 25 Feb 2005 ) » v
{24 Feb 2004. 5.4 cenis) . 1129 1053 112.9 1083
Distribution fo? the six months ended 31 December 2004 . : )
"11.1 cents per unit {31 Dec 2003: 10.7 conts) ’ 2238 2086 223.8 208.6
Distribution for the reparting pericd ended 31 December 2064 . -
22.0 cents per unit (31 Dec 2003: 21.2 cents) 443.6 4133 4436 . 413.3
Undistributed income at 31 December 856 76 86 76
, $000 $000_ 5000 $000
3. Expenses
Expenses have been amived ai'aﬁer charging the following items: -
Autitors’ rermuneration: ’
Auditing the financial report . 6886 579.4 £36.6 588.8
_ Other audi refated work . 142.8 155.9 911 154.2
Total audit ang audit related work ' 8314 735.3 727.7 723.0
Other assurance services . . 12030 - - - 740 = 19670 74.0
_ Total auditors” remuneration oo 2.034.4 $09.3 - 18347 7970

Other assurancs services in 2004 is pred onwmntly due diligenca reviews on Lend Lease Ccrporaﬁon Lid's merget proposal and Stotland's
" {akeover progosat.,

Responsible Entiy's fes 355107 25,627.1 71,8406 16,458.5

From 1 January 2003, the base management fee payable by GPT has been reducad from 0.56% to 0.40% per annum of gross assats and a
* performance component has been introduced. The performance component, it applicable, is 5% of GPT's outperformance compared lo the
. S&PIASX Property 200 Accumulation Index. The tolal fee payable each six months is capped at 0.275% of the gross assets of the Trust GPT
- Management Limiled will receive all or part of the performance fee so thal earnings per unit for each six mronth period is not less than the earnings
per unit for the previcus six month pericd. Based on GPT's performance for the twetve months to 30 June 2004, a performance fes of $3,468,000
was paid in respect of the six months to 30 June 2004. No performance fee was payabls in respedt of tha six months to 31 December 2004,
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General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financtal Statements
Consolidated GPT
1 0ec2004 = 31Dec2003  31Dec 2064 31 Dec 2003
$m $m m $m :
4. Receivables
. Trade debtors , ‘ 37.0 272 8.0 35 ;
Provision for doublful debts ' -{1.2) {1.2) {0.8) {1.0)
' 35.8 26.0 52 . © 25
Distributions receivable from unlisted controfied trusts : - - - 11 ;
" Distributions receivable from associates o 56 10.8 4.2 10.6
Cther deblors : 175 9.4 - 0.4 g
Loans to controfled entities - - 7.1 : 8.3
’ 58.9 46.0 16.5 20.8 ‘
5. Other current assets
~ Prepayments ' T . 135 14.6 101 - 10.3
6. Investment propertles
- Retail » 4,749.5 37232 28462 2,051.0
Office 30789 2,946.7 736.8 743.5
Hotel & Tourism 7100 5192 - -
Industrial ) 3278 289.8 266.9 C 2327
’ 8,866.2 7.478.9 3,649.7 3.032.2
The mixed class of assets (a5 refered to in the foflowing table) has been allocated in the table abave as follows: -
Melbourns Central : 62.0% Retzil ($444.0 m) and 38.0% Office ($271.7 m) (Dec 2003: 50.0% Retall and 50.0% Office)
Due fo the redevelcpment of the retail component of Matboumne Central, the allocation of the value was reviewed,
Brisbane Transit Centre : 83% Office and 17% Hole! & Tourlsm ' i
Untisied units in controlled trusts . ’ L
GEM Ratall Proporty Trust 1,497.6 1,2531
. GEM Commercial Property Trust 15278 13743
GPY Hotel Trust . 7005 511.2
. GPT Industial Trust . . » 60.9 . 574
" GPT Rasidential Trust : ‘ : M7 26.1
Melbourne Central Unit Trust ’ £50.8 £30.0
: 44813 3751.8
Unlisied shares in corporations ' .
GPT Pty Limited , 6.1 0.1
Melboume Central Holdings Pty Limited ) 41.7 4.7
: ' 47.8 47.8
investments in associates i . :
Erina Property Trust ) ) 128.2 1111
Herten Trust : 171 13.4
1 Farter Place Trast . 1256.3 25716
2 Park Street Trust 286.5 286.5 :
689.1 668.6 :
88662 7.478.9 8,867.9 7,500.4. :
Reconcilfation . : '
Reconciiations of the carrying amounts of invesiment properties atthe
beginning and end of the curent and previous finandial year are sat-out below.
Carrying amount at start of the financial year : 7,478.9 £.508.3 7.500.4 6,491.6
Additions ' : 812.1 7348 7727 773.8
Disposals ' {is6) ‘ - - -
Net increase in revaluation of investment . 594.8 235.0 - 5948 235.0
Canrrying amount at end of the financial year . : 8,866.2 7,478.9 8,887.9 7.500.4
15




xeneral rroperry Lrast and s Canirolled thtiues

Notes to Financizl Statements .
6. investment propetties {Continued) - ¢
_ TolalCost  Date of Lstest Agditions
- Acquisition  including Laest independent Since Bock Value
Name Cumership Acquisttion Price Addiions Valuation  [ndependent Valwer  Valuation Vafuaton 31 0ee04 H
. % : Date &m LWL 3 $m m ) i
RETAL. )
Bonner House - 166 Oct 2003 9.1 94 Dec2004 Knight Frank 140 R )
ACY . \essehold KL Goddard, FAP| -
Borec House ©100 Jul 2002 108 10.7 Sep 2003 CB Richerd Elfis 103 B
HNSW - M Stew, ALPY .
Casuarina.Square . 166 Ot 1573 45 14586 Oec 2004  Kaight Frank 3300 .. 3300
NT - ) . ) 1. Goddard, FAP! .
Chartastown Square 100 Dec 1977 73 1830 Dec 2004 CB Richard Elis 3858 @ - 3856
. NSW ) R . J Barcas, AAPI -
Pagific Highway, Chartestown 100 Oct 2662 } (AN 71 Sep 2003 Haight Frank 14 60 70
NSW Jul 2603 53. 53 .. Ki Goddand, FAPI - |- 53
Dandenong Plaza ) . 109 Dec 1693- 602 162.0 Sep 2003 FPOSavilis (NSW) 2050 1.3 8.3
vie : Dsc 1983 60.3 60.3 AD dohnston, AAPL ) -
Erina Falr 33.3, Freehold Jun 1992 551 2.5 0ec2003 Kright Frank . " 2585
CNSW 16.7, Unils in Trust T KL Goddard, FAPL . 1292 . 4
‘ - 3877 - %77
Penrith Plazz including Cinemas . 160 S 1971 o187 4585 ODec2004 CB Richard Efis T 6728 - -672.8
NSW Oct 2002 %28 M Steur, AP ’ ;
. Apr 1958 174- ) :
High Street, Pennith 100 Nov 2062 52 S0 Sop2003 <TB Richard Efis 8.1 - [X)
NSW ] Jan 2063° 0.8 M Steur, AAPI - )
Rlley Square 100 o Jun18s4 116 17.2  Sep 2003 CB fichard Elis %52 - 152
NSW 5 : : . M Sleur, AAPL
Sunshing Plaza 50 Dec 1582 328 1319 Dec 2004 CBRichard s 2550 - 2550
QLb . ) . Sep 2004 130.4° . T indng, AAPI Rafor Notes 8 and B
Plaza Parsde 50 Jun 1399 47 118 Oez 2004 CB Richard Els 8y - 9.7
aw . - . T tedng, AAPE : -
. Horton Parade : S0 Juss 1888 EY) 30 Dec2004 CB Richard Bl0s 8.7 . 97 4
ao - Units in Trust T Iving, AAPL )
Marcochydore Supersiore Feb 1999 58 53 Dec 2004 B Richard Efis 12 . 72 (@
Flaza QLD L : : 133 T tndng, AARI 158
’ . - 02
Woden Plaza. - 100 Fob 1286 748 2487 Deg 2004 Knight Frank” £70.0 - 470.0
ACT - Leasehold K. Goddard, FAP ‘
General Property Trust , ‘ v 27028 i
Caringtord Court 100 Bt 1966 0.1 1352 De¢ 2004 CB Richerd Bllis 1580, . 1580 :
NSW J-Banas, AP i
Crimside Pak 10D g 1906 865 . 1385 Doc 2004 Knight Frank 156.0 - 1860
vic _ : . . . KL Goddard, FAPI .
Wokiongong Cantral 100 3411596 540 1126 - Dec 2004 Kright Frank 200.7 ®) B 2007
NSW . . Oct 1998 348, KL Goddacd, FAPI . N -
Flereat Forum - 100 it 1996 333 87.8 Mar2004 Knight Frank 95.0 07 857
WA : : . M Crowe, AAPY :
Forestway Stinpping Centre 100 21006 270 429 Sep 2005 Knight Frank T B4.0 01 - §41
NSW : KL Goddand, FAP ) : :
Macasthur Square i 50 Dec 1399 1350 1676 Dec2004 CB Richard Elis 239 - 2339 -
NSW . : . ) _ M Steur, AAPI
Pakmore srwppmg Centrs T 00 - hd 1998 1200 1313 Déc2004 Knight Frank 145.0 - 1450 :
VIC - KL Goddard, FAPS ;
TRomemaker CiyAspley - 108 Nav 2004 432 538 .un 2002 JLL Capitsl Markets " 438 9.7 53,2 ;
oo L : ) C -\WRWemann, AAP! .
, Homernaker City Bankstown 10 Nov 2603 338 ‘33.7  Sep 2003 FPOSavills 44.0 0.8 448
HSW ' ) AD Johnston, AAPY ) : .
Homemaker City Cannon Hig 120 Nov 2001 . 138 147 Sep 2003 Jones Lang LaSells 5.7 63 188
QL : J Apted, FAF
Homemaker Cey Caste Hll 100 Nov 2001 - 25.4 373 Sep 004 WK Victon Nz . 08 320
NSW Jan 2003 8.7 W Wotton, FAPY . )
Homemaker CltyEppmg j 169 Aug 2003 317 37.8 - - : o . - 378
VIC: -
Homemaker City Fortitude Vaﬂey 100 Cec 2001 72 312 Sep 2003 CB Richard Eflis 318 [X] 317
aw ) . T Irving, AAPI
m Freenon), aniess ofherwise siated.
{2) Vahsation for Cheslestnm was $355m, which did not includs $0.5m of ind,
(3) Vansation for VoBongong was §195m, which gid not include tand of $5.7m.
4} Shars of Assoclats's properly assets. The valuo of the Trust's interestin wkmsmmsxmnmmam
(S)  Share o Associates olher property refated ned asséds witich haws beon included 55 propody (refer nots 1{b))
(6) ﬁmmmwnmmvxmmmmuwmmwmmwmmmwexmmrmmmm
subsequert to valuation, Proporiics on whinh suchs cipital amummlmmﬂmmnaemlmmmmuwhmw
- twidve monBis ar¢ camed al Directors’ vahisation
The basty of vatation of mvestnent praperties i Tair vatus being the amouns for which e el Caukd bie BEAGNGEd bweon Wiling Fa/Bes i 3n 'S éngh
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6. lavestment pfoperﬁes_ {Continued)

Léneral Froperty 1rust and s Lontrglied bnkilies

Notes lo Finanaazl Statements

Total Cost Data of Latest Addiffons
: . Acguisifon  intluding Lotest ndependent Sirce Beok Value
Name O hip Acquisition Price Addiions  Vakiaon  independent Valusr  Valuafion Valuaficn 38 Decd4
(Y Oate $m $m &m - $m m )
REFAIL {Continuer) ]
Homemaker ity Fortiide Viliey 100 Mar 2004 12.7 45.1 - - - 451
Stags 2, QLD ) .
Homemaker Ciy Jindalee 100 Nov 200 38.7 406  Sep 2004 Jones Lang LaSafle - 550 - 55.0
D ’ ) 3 Apted, FAPY .
Homemaker Clty Maribymeng 160 Hov 2001 355 356 Sep 2003 Knight Framk 473 - 473
VIC ) : M) Schuh, AAPY
Homemaker Clty Moafabbin 100 Sul 2002 333 33.4 B . - - 334
VIC :
Homemaker City Mt Gravatl 100 Nov 2001 178 183 Mar 2002 JLL Capital Markels 194 T 04 198
QLD WR Wiemann, AAP) - B
Homemaker City Underwood 100 Nov 2001 . 185 108 Jun 2002 AL Capal Markets 128 - 0.4 430
OLD . WR Wiomann, AAPY
Hornem sleer City Windzor 100 Nov 2001 200 202 Jun 2002 AL Capial Markets 205 C 0.2 207
.o ) Chabwood, AP
GEM Retall Property Trust 14,5130
Tolaf Retall 43055
OFFICE -
Ciligroup Centre 50 5 2001 51.2 2835 Dec2003 FPOSavls (NSW)
NSW Urdts in Trusts Dec 2601 2124
® 0.8 A Pannifex, AP
2665 287.5 0.6 2881 @
. (1.8) 3
1 Farrer Place 50 ‘Dec-2003 2536 2603 Dec 2004 Knight Frank 2563 - 2683
RSW Unrits in Trust - KL Goddard, FAPL - -
Australia Square 50 Sep 1981 425 1462 Jun 2004 Jones Leng kaSalie 178.0 56 183.6
NSW . J Dition, AAPY
‘MLC Centre 50 Apr 1987 2335 314.8  #ar2004 OB Richard Elis 234.5 20 286.5
NEW - ) S Fairfax, AAP!
Riverside Centre 100 Apr 1984 0.7 2997 Sep 2002 CB Richand Efey (C) 2450 €3 2513
QLD : J Poriér, FAPY )
Black Ink Houss 100 Apr 1984 EX] 5.7 Sep2002 CB Richand Edfs (C) 144 62 14.6
QD J Porter, FAPY
General Property Trust 4,278.8
179 Efizabsth Street 100 Sep 1968 a4 £6.7 Sep 2003 FPDSavills 3190 44 858
NSW - : A Paninifex FAPI . :
10 & 12 Mort Street 106 Sl 1996 586 600 Dec2003 Jones Lang LaSalle 50.0 (X} £0.1
ACT ) Leaschold . RJ Lawse, AAPt .
530 Coliing Street & 100 Jul 1998 310.0 3203 Sep 2003 Usbis 3204 1.4 211
120 King Sirest : RJ Scrivener, FAP
VIC .
" HSBC Centry, 830 George S 100 b 1996 1800 . 2158 Mar2004 CB Richand Elis 278 13 2288
NSW - ) S Faidas, ARFL
Darling Park Complex 50- Jun 2000 - 288.1 487.3
MSW Units in Yrusts Mas 200t 100.0
: 1 120 .
4673 Per2004 FPDSavEs {NSW) 4575 37 4612 ©
: A Pannifex, FAP! {18 ®
Darting Park 3 100 Apr 2004 321 813 - S, - - 313
National@Dockiands Stage 1 10D Feb 2002 74 1352 Mar 2004 Knight Frank 140.0 05 1408
Viclotia Harbour, VIC ) MJ Schudy, ARPI
National@Docklands Stage 2 100 Feb 2002 83 110.2 Sep 2004 Knighl Framk 1153 - 1153
Victoria Harbou, VIC MJ Schuts, AAPY
‘GEM Commardial Praperty Trust 1.482.3
Total Qffice - 27818
MIXED
Brisbane Transit Centre 50 ) .
ao Unitsin Trust - Nov 1957 428 47.%  Sun 2604 Colliers Intemationat 543 @
Shares i Company  Mov 1997 9.7 0.7 SR Andrew, FAP 0.7
. 478 55.6 - 55.6
4eloourne Centrel 100 May 1999 402
vic Mar 2001 71
: @ 35 :
. 430.8 6925 Sep 2004 dJones LanyLaSafic 677.4 383 7687
- . B Sweeney, AAP
Totat Mixed ) 7713

. (1) Freshold unizss otharwise lated.

(%) Shareof Assocate’s property assuls. The vatus of the Trsts frterast in she Associate's prpenty assels s included in the waluation
{3} Share of Asseciala's pther propety rdated nut latiRties which hove boen inclused 83 poperty (refor Hote b))

(4} Accksihm cosls.
(5} Aoqlsiton costs.,

(6} Propertis B have been nhipendenly valued In the h:awemnummmwaimlmadon,meptme cplal expandiluie has been incuared

subsequen o viedon. Properies on whith such capilal expendifiue has bean incured and propurties which have not betn ndependarty viduoed nha fxa

tzive montns are camied A Directors' vahton

The basis of vailaion of investment graperiies i fair value being the asmounls e which dha dssits twtd Be exchongea between willig prrics I on ans tength

transaction.

»




Il S S

Notes to Financial Statements

6. Investment properties {Continued) ,
‘Total Cost Bate of . Latest Addilens

Total Investment P roperties

B Acquisition  induding Latest . Independent Since Book Vakee
Hame , Cwnership ‘Acquisiian Pdce AdgEons  Valuglion  ingepandert Valuer  Valuation Vakalion  31.0ecod
®H Date $m $m &m m im )
INCUSTRIAL ; - g
Harvey Road 100 May 1689 249 249 MarZd02 L Capial Markels 248 I 2438
Kings Park NSW R Ewing, AP :
Port G- Wesl indubial Extale (1) Aug 1334 60.0 694 Mar 2008 FPDSavills 553 68 621
Grieve Pde & Doherdys Road : R Bowman, AAP
Adlona North VIC - . L i
Quad 1, Parkwiow Crive ] 100 dun 2081 155 156 Jun 2004 Codiers Inlernafionsd 15.6 - . 16.6
Homebush Bay NGW tepschold R A Groham, AAPI .
Quad 2, Parkvigw Drive ) Dac 2001 FE] 155. Jun2004 Coders intemational 127 - 187
Homebush Bay NSW Loasshald A Graham, AAP| .
Quad 3, Parkview Drive 100 Mar 2603 2.7 163 - - - - 163
Homebush Bay NSW Leasehold . ) -
Ousd 4, Peckview Orive 100 Jun 2004 27 23 - - ) - B 23
Homebush Bay NSW : Leasehoid ) ) .
8 Herb Elliott 700 Auxg 2004 55 8.5 - - : - - 85
Homebush Bay NSW . teamehald - - i . . :
T Figtrea Drive 106 . 812004 10.2 102 - - D B 102
Homebush Bay NSW ' Leasehold
7 Parkidew Orive : 100 Hay 2002 16.% 161 - . - . 5.1
Homehush Bay NSW Leasahold . :
11 Grand Ava, Camelia 100 May 1693 9.9 §7.2 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 58.0 13 55.3
Cametfia NSW - WR Retallick, FAP) . )
5 Berry Sheat 100 Nov 2000 10.0 100 Sep 2003 Knighl Frank 10.8 . 10.8
Granville NSW WR Retallick, FAPL - ’ - .
19 Benry Strest 150 T Dec 2000 148 189 Sep2003 Knight Frank 205 N 20.5
Granville NSV ) ) WR Retallick, FAPI :
Austrak Business PArk, ) Ot 2003 378 509 - - z j . 50,8
Somerton VIC
Tatat industrial 278
HOTEL & TOURISM . L )
Ayers Rock Resort 10 Dec 1997 2319 3538 Mar 2004 JLLMotls YN 58 359.6
Bis MA Coopar, AAPI :
. - Sharesim Company  Sep 2003 80 50 8.0 3
 Cape Tribulation Resorts - 100 Mar 2002 15 94, - - - < 188
. QD Pert feasshold - i
Wadman River . 100 S om0 05 11 Mar 2604 JU Hotels ) 05 - [X 0.6
NT fart leasehold ) MA Cooper, AAPI
Berdama Bland Resort i 160 Jut 2004 258 258 - . R i - 256
- Cradle Mountain Reson 100 v 2004 12 1.5 . . . R - - : - 1.5
TAS Part leasehild T .
Dunk Isiand Resort 100 i 2004 553 625 - : - . s 585
QLD Part leasehold ) )
“Heron istand (ncluding Wiison 00 74 2005 47 a5 - - 5 448
istand} ) . - .
QLD Leasehaold . - .
Silky Oaks Lodge 100 Jul 2004 185 186 . P - ~ 186
“Wicthem Park i 100 12004 7.3 87 N - - - 87
Qw Lessehold - . :
Four PGnts by Sharaton Hotel 100 May 2000 46.1 1689 Mar2002 Golers tornadanal 136.0 128 1488
Sydney, NSW ) .+ Leaschold R Mchntosh, FARI
Seeurity Deposit : (70)- @
1418
161 Sussex St Py timited Loan 28 &
F) 04 ®
Refer Note &
Total Hotel & Tourism 700.5
8,966.2

19) Freatnis, unless ofhirwise stded;

{2) Valuation lor Ayers Rock Resortwas S360m, of which $6,2m retatad to phant and equipment cwncd by Vaynges Hotels 8 Resorts Pry Uimited

{3} Equity In Voyages Helgis § Resorts Pty Limked,

{4) Sscurity depush hoid by GPY.

{6) Loam to 167 Sunscn Beet kar purhiise of business sssets. Undrawn &mmnmmm Sussey Sveet at bolanee mmszmmn(c;s’rm;

{6) Share ol 161 Mmsmmmmmmmmmmmmmw(wmm»
) 1) Propartos tud have bamn independently vahued in the 1ast tweive months sra carmied of Bl vahustion, &mﬁﬂmmpwwmmmswhﬂwi Properies on which

mmmmemmmnwwmmmmmWWMmMIm Swelve mondin are canied Bt Direcions’ waugtion,

T basis of vahuavon of investmend pexfics s fuir value boing the amounts B0 which 1he assels could be exchanged bobwaen willing parsfes i an 2 length ranaaction.




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

Consolidated
31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
m $m
6. Investment properties (Continued)
Additions to existing investments
: Durlng the financlal year ended 31 December 2004 the following additions were made (o existing property lnvestmants:

Retail : ' : ' 1431 98.4
Office : . : . . 145.5 118.2
Mixed : ' ‘ : 1339 98.1
ndustrial ) 127 326
Hotel & Fourism : . ‘ 17.7 22.8

) 452.9 3701

Additions to property include, mpxtahsed Interest on redavelopment of $20.3 million using an !nterest rate of 6.9%
{Dec 2003: $17.5 mikon using 6.78%).

Melbourne Central ) .

Construction commenced in November 2002 on the $260 milfion redevelopment of Mefbourns Cendral. The development has opened in
progressive stagas thyoughout 2004, and the final level 3 lsisure and entertainment precinet is programmed for completion mid 2005, An
expansion and refurbishment of the office tower tobby was completed in August 2004.

Macarthur Square
Construcion commenced in September 2004 on the 3200 mitiion (GPT's share $100 mitfion) expanston of Macarthur Square. The first stage of
the development is programmed for completion in late 2005 and the second stage in eardy 20086.

Perwith Plaza ’
Construction commenced in June 2004 on the $138 million expansion of Penrith Paza, and is programmed-for completion.in late 2005

Forostway Shopping Centre .
The upgrade of Forestway was completed In March 2004, The final development cost was $4 7 milkion.

Homemaker Crty Aspley
Consliruction commenced in Apﬁl 2004 on the $8 mittion remix of Homemaker Gity Asp!ey This work was comp!eted in November 2004,

Rouse Hill Town Centre

A Masterplan Development Application was approved in March 2004 for the Rouse H»ﬁ Regional Centre Construcim onthe iown centre
component is expecied to commence in mid 2005 and'is pmgrammed for completion mid 2007.

National@Docklands Stage 1and Stage 2
Stage 1 of the new Mational Austratia Bank (NAB') 56,000 sqm office development in Docklands, Melboume achieved practical completion in

-October 2003. Stage 2 achieved practical completion in May 2004. The end cosl of the davelopment after enhancements agreed with the NAB

is axpecled lo ba approximately $242 million.

Australia Square, Sydney
Major upgrade works to the public areas and fo the Plaza Building at an estimated cos{ of $12 million {(GPT's share $6 mitlion) were compleled
in June 2004. . . .

. ‘The Quad, Parkvisw Drive, Homebush Bay

Cornstruction of The Quad 3 building was completed in June 2004 at a cost of $15.8 milion:

Ayers Rock Resort

During the year, a new retad outiet was added o the Outback Pianeer Hotel ($0.5 miflion) and the resort conference centre was refurblshed
{30.4 million). In addition, Longitude 131 reopened after dosure due to bush fire damage In Oclober 2003. The replacement cost of Longitude
131 was fully insured, although approximately $1.5m of enhancements were included in the sebuild at GPT's cost (pnmanly increased ﬁre
prolechon and an improved arrival area).

Four Points Hotels - RetallfCommercial Precinct

-In September 2004, the Com Exchange building which adjoins the Four Points Hotel was convested into office space. This space had

previously been used for restauran and retall uses. The cost of conversion was approximately $2.0m. The buitding is now tenanted by
Voyages Hotels & Resorls. In the hotel, approximately $0.7 miflion was expended on the refurbishment of the main kilchen.

8




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entifies

Notes to Financial Statements

- 8. Investment properties {Continged)
Purchaae 61 Investments

Damng Park Stags 3 :
in April 2004, GPT purchased the Darling Park 3 teasehold and entered a development agreemsnt with Lend Lease Development to davelop

- the 29,000 sqm final tower of the Darling Park complex. Approximately 60% of the space has been precommitied to Marsh and Mercer.
Forecast cost to comgpletion in May 2006 is $228 million.

Homemaker City Fortitude Valley - Stage 2
In March 2004, GPT acquired a [ard parcal on which Stage 2 of the Homemaker City Fortiiude Valiey will be developed. The completed centre
|s being acquired for approximately $52 million, including land. Tha centre is programmed for completion i efaﬁy 2008.

The Quad, Parkview Drive, Homehush Bay
The Quad 4 leasehold lite was acquired In June 2004 for $2.7 milfon includmg agquisition costs. Quad 4 site forms part of the Quad Business
Park camplex which is being developed by GPT.

8 Herb Elliot Avenue, Homebush Bay :
In August 2004, GPT purchased an investmien In Homebush Bay NSW for $3:5 million including acqulszwn costs.

7 Figtree Drive, Homsbush Bay
In July 2004, GPT purchased an tnvestment in Homebush Bay NSW for $10.2 million :ncﬁu«fmg acquxsmon costs.

P&O Resorts

in July 2004, GPT in con)undlon with Voyages Hotels & Resorls Pty Limited. (Voyages) purchased P&0O Australlan Resorts, the Iargest owner-
operator of nature-based resorts in Australia. The portfolio inckudes Slky Oaks Lodge and the Dunk, Bedaca, Brampton, Lizard, Heron and
Wiison island resorts, all located in Queensland as well as Cradie Mountain Lodge in Tasmanla. At the tima of acquisition, Wrotharm Park
Station, kcated inwastern Queensland, was also under constuction. GPT's andi Voyeges' investiment, induding acquisition and pro;ed
‘completion costs (in respect of the new Dunk Istand rooms and Wrotham Park) and workmg capital Is approximataly $217.6 miflion.

. Disposal of Investments

IKEA Building, Prospect
Tha IKEA Building Prospect was divested in November 2004 for $7.5 million.

Homemaker City Springwood
Homamaker City Springwood was dwes:ed in November 2004 for $13.0 milion.

Joint venture mvestment arrangement

Sunshine Plaza

GPT and Austrafian Prime Properly Fund Retad (AF’PFR) enlered Info a JVIA with the Cammaorwwealth Bank of Australia ('CBA') in 1994,
Under the terms of the JVIA:

{a) A ground lease was granted 1o the CBA for land owned by GPT-and APPFR.

{b) GPT and APPFR madedeposns with the CBA and received aretumn on thoss deposits based an the income of the Centre. These
.deposils were repayable in 2008 or on lermination of the ground leass or at its.expiry.

(¢} GPT had a fight to terminate the gmund lease each year over a five year period commanding June 2002,

The right was exercised in Seplember 2004. A payment was made to CBA under a formuls basad on the vafuation of the Centre at -

" development completion ($264 milkon) and termination date, and the CBA refunded the deposits made by GPT and APPFR. The total cost to
unwind the JVIA was $111.6 million {net of annual depesits, $55.8 million GPT's share) Including incidantal costs. GPT's obligations in the JVIA
ate fmited lo its 50% share,

~ Other information

-Ayers Rock Resort, P&0 Resorts and Cape Tnbulauon Resoris : ‘

_ These properiies (excluding Bramplon and Lizard Island Resoris which currently remain‘'owned by Voyages) are owned by GPT and leased o
Voyages. The hotel businesses are owned and operated by Yoyages, which is who!ly owned by GPT Hotel Management Pty Umited. GPT
Hete! Management Pty Limiied ks 2 company with A and B Class shares. The A Class shares of GPT Hotel Management Ply Limited carry only
votmg rights and they are owned by GPT Qperafing Company Trust-on behalf of the Unitholders of GPT. The 8 Class shares of GPT Hotel
Managemem Pty Limited are owned by GPT and carry the income entilement. .

20




TR BT of WAy

General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities
Notes to Financial Statements

Consolidated GPT

31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 3% Dec 2064 31 fec 2003
Sm $rm $en $m

6. Investment prope'rtiéjs {Continued)
Other information (Continuad)

" Four Points by Sheraton Hotei
' The property Is wholly owned by GPT, GPTalso has a 40% interest in an associated company, 161 Sussex SCreet Pty Limited (the Company’)

which leases and operates the holel.  Sterwood Pacific Hatels Pty Limited (° Starwood') a whofly owned subsidiary of Starweod Hotels and
Resorts Woddwu;!e Inc. owns the remalning 60% interest.

In May 2000, the Company leasead the hotel from GPT for ten years, with the Company having an opiion to extend the leass fora further term of
five years. Afler May 2005 ihe lease may be terminated by GPT sf the hotel is sold. The Company has provided a secunity deposit of 7.0
million,

At the time of acquis%kon, GPT provided a loan to the Cbmpany to fund its purchase of business assels, the payment of the ﬁecun!y deposit and
initial working capital requirements. The loan balance at December 2004 was $2.8 million. Sarwe acquisition GPT has invesled an additiona!
$2.6 million In squlty in the Company.

7. Com'mihnénts

~ {a) Capital expenditure
At balance date capital expenditure. approved but fiot pmwded for in lhe financtal report:

Directly held Investment proporties .
_Auslralia Square } . 10 5.2 10 5.2

Casuarina Square : ' . 1.0 67 1.0 Co 6.7
Chartestown Square : . : 1.5 - 15 -
Citi-West (ndustrial Park . - , 3.0 - 3.0
Erina Falr » C ) . oz 0.2 - 0.2
11 Grand Avenug, Camellla : - 0.6 Co- _ 06
MLC Centre ) . 47 48 47 48
* Penrith Plaza : ’ : 980 5.7 28.0 - 5.7

 Plaza Parade . - 0.2 - 02
Quad 3 : ’ - 86 - 8.8
Quad 4 . 1.0 - - ) 1.0 -
Riverside Centre 39 39 . 33 3.9
Sunshine Plaza . : _ ‘ - 0.1 - 61
Woeden - .13 0.3 13 0.3
Other properties ’ - 2.8 - © 29

Unlisted controiled entities :
530 Coling St ‘ 10 0.8 - ‘ .
Austrak Business Park, Somerion . 8.5 5.6 - -
Ayers Rock Resort ’ - 0.9 - -

. Dading Park Stage 3 . ) 143.9 - : - ’ -

- Floreat Forum - . 11 - -
Hememaker City Aspley ) 1.5 - - -
Homemaker City Bankstown . ’ N - - oo
Homemaker City Castle HH ) 27 - .- .
Homemaker City Fortitude Valley Stage 2 ’ 7.9 - - -
Homemaker City Jindales } ) 2.9 - - -

- Homemaker City Windsor . . a7 - - -

. H8BC Centre, 580 George St _ . 0.8 - -o- S

 Macarthur Square : 75.0 - - -
Meaiboums Central ' 281 124.5 - -
Parkmore Shopping Cenlre o 14 - .
The National, Stages 31 & 2 . : . - £9.5° - - . -
Wollongong Central . 1.9 - - -
Othet properties o : : 1.2 85 - -

Investments in Associates ‘ ' ‘

Darling Park and Dading Park Property Trust 3 : - 4.3 - -
Erina Property Trust - - 0.1 - -

"1 Famer Place . . 4.9 - - -
Horton Trust - 0.1 - -
2 Park 8t Trust : : : S - 2.1 - -

' ’ : 3925 242.9 112.4 36.0
Due within 1 year . ‘ 321.9 2413 1038 34.4
Oue botween 1 and 5 years 70.6 1.6 8.7 16

392.5 2428 1124 4186
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- General Property Trust and its Conftrolled Entities .
Notes to Financial Statements

Consolidated : GPT

31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004 31 Bec 2003
$m $m $m $in

7. Cqmmit:nénts {Continued) _
{v) Investments - '
At balance date deposit comumitments existed in respectcf mterests iy JVIA coniracted but not prov;ded for in the financial report (refer Notes 8
and 8):

Sunshine Plaza

Duse within 1 year ' - - 47 - T 47
Due betwesn 1 and 5 years ) ] _ - 9.0 - 8.0
. o 137 - 13.7

e Opérating leasey

~

Estimated aggregate amount of operamg lease expemﬁt:re agread or contracted but not provided for in the financial report.

Due wﬂhiﬂ 1 year . . 0.2 0.3 01 R
Due between 1'and 5 years ‘ ) K] oX:] . 05 0.5
Due between § years and expiry dale of leases : . 2.2 26 0.7 08

33 33 13 1.4




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

Consolidated GeT
31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
$m $m $m - $m
.8 Shares in Associates (Masterplanned Urban Communities)
Lend Lease (Twin Waters) Pty Limited ) : . B2 8.5 - . -
tend Lease GPT (Rouse Hill) Pty Limited 3.3 1.0 T -

11.5 8.5 - -

Rousa Hil Regumal Centre

In Oclober 2803, a joint veniure company owned 49% by GPT and 51%- by Lend Lease enlered into an agreement with the Department of
Infrastructure, Planning and Natiral Resources (OIPNR") and Landcom to foinlly davelop, under a tand managemert model, a regional centre at
Rouse Hill. The project Includes aver 1,500 residential lots, a aiixed use Town Cenbre and supporting infrastructure. GPT will davelop and own the

- Town Centre, consisting of a retail markat place, home living retall, commercial and keaming space.

, Other assets
Deposns . .
Deposiis at cost - Sunshme Plaza » - 74.6 - 746
‘Loans to Associates . . . . ’
tend Lease (Twin Walers) Pty Limifed . . 1856 | 18.7 - -
Lend Lease GPT {Rouse Hill} Pty Limited 8.1 . 2.9 - : -
24.6 196 R -
Loans 15 Voyages Holels & Resoris Pty Limited ' .
. Working Capital Loan 18.5 . . 108 . - S
Acguisition Loan : . 48.1 - 48.1 -
: : . » ' 688 10.9 381 -
Leasing Cosls - )
Leasing costs at cost : : E 53 . - 31 -
Less accumulaled amartisation . (0.5) .- (0 3) . -
4.8 - -
86.0 1061 - 509 746
Reconciliation

Twin Waters Resort

In October 2003, a joint venture company owned 49% by GPT and 51% by Lend Lease acquired the Twin Waters Resort and golf cousse for
redeveloprment into a rescrt and residential community. The re-development will Inciuda 270 dweliings, whilst the golf course, central and leisure
facilities are to be on-soid 1o speciafist aparators. )

Reoonchat:ons of the canying amounts of other assets at the begmnm and erd of the wrlem and previous finandiat year are set out below.

Carrying amount at start of the financial year ’ ' 1051 - 888 748 700

. Additicns f (Repaymeris) to Deposits T (74:6) .48 ©{74.6) 48
Additions v Loans fo Assodiates 5.0 19.6 - -
" Additons / {Repayments) to Loans to Voyages Hotels & Resods Pty Limited 857 {1.9)
Additions to Leasing Costs ) 4.8 - 28 - -
Carrying amount at end of the finandal year . . 86.0 105.1 2.8 . 748

" The Sunshine Plaza JVIA with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia was terminated on 30 Seplember 2004,

10.

GPT has provided Voyages with a working capital loan which was drawn to $18.5 milfion at Diecember 2004 and an acquisition joan of $48.1

“milfion to fund its purchase of Brampton and Lizard Istand Resorts. Itis anficipated Ihat GPT will acquire Brampton and Lizard island Resorts from

Voyages in 2005 and Vuyages will repay the acquisition loan at that ime.

Payables - Current’
Trade creditors . : 180.8 135.4 8.2 - 66.8
Creditors - other ; 3.0 33 - 24 13
- refated party ) - . . 0.1 2.2 R} 22
_Loans from conlrolled entities . - i - - 26.5
‘Responsibie Entity's fee : ) 8.2 6.4 4.9 41
: ' 1921 147.3 873 100.9
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General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

On 2 April 2004, 67 miilion units were issued via a private placement 1o ralse $203 million. Units were aflolted on 8
April 2004 at $3.03 under the placement, representing a 1.5% discount {o 3 day voluma weighted average
{VWAP) of $3.077. The units were entitlad to the full March 2004 quarter distribution and subsequent distributions.

Consolidated
31 Dec 2603
Nurnber of Amounti at
Units Issue Price
millions $m

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 16497 4,400.8
New issues: : . - -
Balance at the end of the financial year 1.849.7 4,400.8
Ordirary Units

Ordinary unils en’uﬂe the holder to pamapate in disfributions and the proceeds on winding up of the Tmot in
proporiion to the number of and amounts paid on the units held.

‘On a show of hands every holder of ordinary units present at a meenng in parson of by praxy, is entitled to one
vote, and upon a poll each unit is entiled to one vote.

24

Consolidated GPT
31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
$m $m 3m $m
11. Interest bearing liabilities - Current
Short and Medlum Tarm Notes (refer Nots 1(e) and Note 20} ) 9400 . 775.0 940.0 775.0
Commercial Bills (rafer Note 1(e) and Note 20) ‘ ' 131.6 - 1300 -
1,071.8 775.0 1,070.0 776.0
12. Provisions
"Pistributions payatle 112.9 105.3 1129 1065.3
13. Interest bearing liabilities - Non-current
Medium Term Notes (refer Note H{e) and Note 20) 1,502.0 1,227.0 1,602.0 1,227.0
CPl Coupon Indexed Bonds 125.0 125.0 125.0 - 1250
S 1,627.0 1,352.0 1,627.0 - 1,362.0
14. Contributed equity
2016,716,810 (Dec 2003; 1,949,718,610}) units 4,598.5 4,400.8
Mowvements in units at issue price
Consolidated
31 Dec 2004
MNumber of - Amourt at
Units Issue Price
millions $m
Balance at the beglmtng of the financial year ‘ 1,0497  4.400.8
New issues: ’
Private placement
- Proceeds from issue of units {net of ransactlon costs) 87.0 200.3
. {.ess: distributian entilernent refating to pre issue ) (2.6}
Balance at the end of the financial year ) 2,016.7 4.598.5
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General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements :
: ' : Consotidated GPT
© 31 Dec 2004 31Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
. : $m $m $m

15. Asset revaluation reserve

Nature and purpose of reserve '

" Asset revaluation reserve ) : ’ :
The asset revaluation reserve is used to recond increments aad decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assels, as descrived in accounting palicy Note 1(d).  The reserve is predominantly comprised of unrealised
gains resutting from the revaluation of the Trust’s property invesiments. The balance, or any part of the
batance, standing to the credit of the reserve may be transferred to the Trusts distributions. During the
financia! year $15.6 million (Dec 2603: $N3) was transferred to disidbutions.

Balance at me'beginning of the financial year ) 907.1 ) 672.1 8071 6721
" Increasesi{decreases):

Difectly heid investment properties

Cit-West Business Estale ) - {1.9) - (1.9}

" Austrafia Square ) : (8.3) - ©(8.3) -

- Bonner House ) . . o 29 1.7 - 28 7
Borec House - ‘ 0.4 - N
11 Grand Ave, Camelia ) - 2.4 - T 21
Casuarina Square : 61.4 - - 614 o -~
Charlestown Square 536 516 535 §1.6
Charlestown Convenience Centre ) - - {01 - : {0.1)-
Dandenong Plaza . : - ) 20 - . - 20

. Erina Fair ‘ ' : 33.9 243 339 243
15 Berry Streel, Granvilke ‘ - . 08 .- 08

- 19 Bénry Streel, Granville ] : . - 18 - 1.6

. MLC Centre : ‘ (22.5) - . (22.5) -
Penrith Plaza ) . 1292 17.7 1292 12.7
Plaza Parade ’ : oy .04 {0y 0.4
Riley Square . - 02 - 0.2
Quad 1, Homebush ' 1.0 - 10 -
Quad 2, Homebush . ) 29 - 28 -
Sunshine Plaza - - "41.0 4.6 410 | 45
Woden Plaza : : 90.8 ' 310 90.8 310

Reserves atiributable to controfled entities . .

" Ayers Rock Resort ) . ‘ . 102 - - -
Wildman River ' {0.5) - - -
Cariingford Court ‘ 21.2. - ’ - -
Chimside Park ' 335" 10.4 - -

~ Wollongong Central ) ) 333 200 - - -

Floreat Forum - ) ’ {0.7) - - -
Forestway Shopping Centre . 1.7 - - -
Macarthur Square ' _— 04 - 184 - -
Metbourne Cenfral ’ . {3.5) - - : -
Parkmore Shopping Centre - ] - 429 - - -
Homemaker City Bankstown o : - 4.4 - -
Homemaker City Cahnon Hill . ’ . . - ’ 1.2 - Co-
Castle Hill Homemaker City ) (6.4) - - -
Homemaker City Fortituwle Valiey - o - 0.5 - -
Homemaker City Jindalee : . 8.9 : 6.2 - -o-.

- Homemaker City Maribymong . - ) 8.7 - -
IKEA Building, Prospect - 0.5 e -
Springwood Homemaker City (4.0} : - - -
10 & 12 Mort Street . : - (1.0) - -
§30 Cofiins Sireet & 120 King Street _ ) - o 32 - -
179 Elizabeth Street : : ' - 10.1 - o .
HSBC Cenire, 580 George St . ’ 2.3 . - -
The MNational, Stage 1 ) 7.3 .- - -
The National, Stage 2 i 5.1 - - -
GEM Trusts ) - . - 180.0 768.2

GPT Hotel Trust . . a7 -
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17.
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18.

Consolidated )
31 Dec 2004 3100c 2003 31 Dec 2004 34 Dec 2003
tm $m $m $m
15. Asset revaluation reserve {Contmued)
Resen'es aftributabla to Assoc{atcs
Brisbane Transit Cenlre 4.0 - 4.0 -
Darling Park {8.5) D {8.5) (7.7)
Erina Fair 17.0 121 17.0 121
1 Fasrer Place {4.0) - 40 -
Horton Parade/Maroochydore Supersiore T 0.2 3.7 0.2
Citigroup Cenlre - 18.2 - 18.2
Net increase in valuations 5848 235.0 5%4.8 235.0
Transfer {to) { from Distribution: :

-Net book profit on sale of IKEA Buikiing, Prospect 0.8 - 0.8 -
Tosts sssociated with merger proposals {16.5} - {18.5) -
Net transfer {o Distribution {15.6) - " {15.6) -
Batance al the end of ths financial year' 1.486.3 807.1 1,486.3 307.1
Total equity
This represents amounts subscrived for units and options
together with total reserves resulting in a net tanglble asset _
backing of $3.02 (Dec 2003&73) per unit based onthe '
oumber of GPT current units. * 6,083.4 5,315.5 6.093.4 5315.5
Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of net operating income to net cash provided by operating activities S :

Net operating incame. _ : 426.4 420.2 428.4 4202
Loss{gain) on disposal of properties {0.9) - - -
Amortisation of leasing fees 05 - - 0.3 0
Net decrease in provisions: .
Provision for doubtfu! debts - - (0.2) 0.3

" inferest caputairsed {20.3) {17.6) (20.3} {17.6)

Net cash provided by operating activities before .
changes in assets and HBabilities 40587 402.6 408.2 402.9
Responsibie Enlity’s fee 1.8 {2.2) 08 {1.8)
(Increase)/decrease In secsivables (12.7) 8.4 (3.3) 9.7

- Increasef(decrease) in payables {4.7) {13.1) . 12.5 6.0
" Net cash provided by operating activities 390.1 3987 416.2 416.8

Reconc:ltatlon of Cash
Disciosed in Staternent of Financlal Position as:

Cas 50.9 440 45.2 42.5
Eamings per unit
Basic earnings per unit - {cents) 21.3 216
{Net aperating income Including book profils divided by
weighted average number of units)

Basic eamings per unit - (cents) 220 216
{Neat operating income excluding bcok profits and costs assoaaled with merger
proposgals divided by welghted average number of units)

Weighted averags number of ordinary units on issue during the reparting pariod
used in the calaudation of basic earnings per unit - (millions) 2,004.8 1.949.7

General Property Trust and its Controlied Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

GPT
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Consolidated

31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2003
$m - $m
19, Investments in controlled entities and Associates
Interest Contribution to
Name of Entity % net operating in¢come
Parent entity
General Property Trust 73.6 121.9
Controlled entities
- GPT Hoted Trust 100 - -
Ayers Rock Resort Trust 100 425 3.2
GPT Hotel (Darling Harbour) Trust 100 - 14.4 13.3
GPT industrial Trust (formesly known as Wales House Trust) 100 - -
GPT Industrial (Somerton) Trust 100 - 24 -
GPT Ply Limited v 100 - -
GPT Residentiat Trust {formerty GPT Office Trust) 100 - -
GPT Residential (Rouse Hift) Trust 100 g4 -
GPT Residential (Twin Waters) Trust 100 1.3 -
GPT Subsidiary Holding Trust 100 - -
GEM Retail Property Trust 100 62.7 61.5
Homemaker Retail Property Tfust 100 35.0 320
-~ Whitnall Pty Lid 100 - -
GEM Commercial Property Trust 100 (1.7 1.4
© Growth Equities 530 Collins Street Trust 100 24.7 24.4
- Growih Equities 580 George Street Trust 190 17.7 16.9
New Property Investment Trusi No. 1 100 586 5.5
GEM Allendate Trust 160 - -
GPT Victoria Harbour No 18 Trust 100 - -
GPT Victoria Harbour No 1A Trust 100 10.7 2.1
GPT Victeria Harbour No 2B Trust 100 - -
GPT Victoria Harbour No 2A Trust 100 5.6 -
Melbourne Central Holdings Pty Lid 100 - -
Melbourne Central Unit Trust - 100 432 443
Melbourne Central Custodian Pty Lid 100 - -
264.5 2346
Assoclates :
Erina Propesty Trust &0 75 48
Darling Park Trust 50 22.2 184
Darling Park Property Trust 50 14.3 14,1
1-Farrer Place Trust 50 16.2 0.6
Horton Trust 50 12 1.0
Roma Street Trust 50 5.1 5.1
Lend Lease GPT (Rouse H:R) Pty Lcmited 49 - -
Lend Lease Twin Waters Resort Ply Limited 49 1.2 0.1
2 Park Street Trust £0 20.1 195
161 Sussex St Pty Limited 40 0.5 (0.9)
88.3 63.7
426.4 420.2.

Al equity interests, as described in Note 6, issued by GPT and its controlled entities are ordinary interests.

All Associates have a repc:rting penod of 30 June, except for Hortan Trust and 161 Sussex St Pty Limiled which have a reporting penod

of 31 December.
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, Consolidated '
31 Dec 2004 31 Dac 2003
$m . $m
19, investments in controlled entities and Assoclates (Continued)
Reserves attnbumbie to Associates
Assel revaluation reserve o ) : . .
Balance at the beginning of the financial year ’ . 56.3 335
- Revaluations during the financia year o _ - 11.2 228
Balance at the end of the financial year ' : 67.5 563
Movements in carrying amount of investments in Associates
Carrying amount of investmenis al The beginning of the financial year ' 1,208.3 ' 882.9
Net opersaling income attributable 10 associates o ‘ 88.3 63.7
- Less: Distribulions received/receivable . . (88 3) {63.7}
Incidential cests on acguisition o B
Issue of equity ) ‘ 19.0 C 3086
Redeémption of gquity - : - -
Share of movements in asset revaluation reserve : o 112 22.8
Carrying amount of investments at the end of the financial year ‘ 1,2395 1,209.3
Summary of the financial position of Associates |
The recognised amoints of aggregate assets and Habilities
of assodiates are: ) )
Asssts ' S 1.284.3 1,248.9
Liabilities _ ' ‘ - (54.8) (40.6)
Share of net assels of Associales . _ 12395 1,208.3
Incidental cosls on acquisition prior to la!est revaluation of Associates’ assets : - 1.0
", Carrying amount of investments at the end of the financial year : : ‘ 1,239.5 1,200.3

‘Share of Associates’ capital expenditure commitments - refer Note 7

'Share' of Associates’ financing facilities - refer Note 6
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‘Consolidated

39 Dec 2004 39 Dec 2003
$m $m
20, Fln.am:e facilities
Bank sland-by facifiies ' ) 400.0 400.0

The Trust has stand-by facifities of 5'400 million {Dec 2003: $400 millicn) to provide fiquidity backup for the Short TermiMedium Teom Note
Programme which ware nat Wlifised at balance dale. $200 mition matures on 30 Aprit 2005 and a further $200 miflicn matures on 22 May
2005. Wtis anticipated that il will be possible to extend all faciiities.

Short Term Note / Medium Term Note Programme _

The Short Term/Medium Term Note Programma (‘the Programme’) is a ravolving, non-underwritten, debt programme. The Programme
provides flexible short term and medium term funding to enable the Trust Lo Tund commitments and lo-act promptly on investment
opportunities. The Programma can be terminated at the discretion of the Trust and is unsecured. The value of the notes Issued under the
Programme is limited by the Trust constitution. The constilution Bmils the amount of debi te no more than 40% of the lotal assets. Al 31
Dacamber 2004 the percentage of debt to lotal assets ks 29.7%. The Trust issued $250 mElion 18 month callable Medium Term Notes in
August 2004 which the Trust may call and cancet after 8 morths or invesiars may cali if GPT is downgraded fo a 'BBB+ or lower,

Maximurm amount of Short Term Notes on issue during the financlal year : 790.0 5050
Ammount of Short Term Notes outstanding al the end of the financial year | . _ 515.0 5950
Maximum amount of Medium Term Notes on issue during the financial year : . 18270 1,407.0
‘Amount of Medium Term Noles outstanding atl the end of the financial year ’ 18270 1,407.0 .
Commerclal Sills

" On 28 July 2004, the Trust obtained 2 $500 millian Bridghg Finance Facility which will expire on 28 July 2005. As at 31 December 2004, $130
_Fmiiliion has been drawn down.

On 7 September 2004, the General Property Trust f Austrak Joint Veniure obtained a $5 rmillion {GPTs Share $2.5 mmnon) Bill Facility to fund
the capite expenditure requirements of Austrak Business Park, Sormerton. This facliity Is secused by a morigage ovef Austrak Business Park,
Somerlon. As at 31 December 2004, $3.2 milion (GPT's Share $1.6 mition) has been drawn down.

CPI Coupon Indaxed Bonds

©On 10 December 1899, the Trust fssued CPY Coupon Indéxed Bonds totalling $125 milion. The set:unues vill expice on 10 December 2029
and have 3 curent coupon o( 6.05%. The coupon compounds quarterly at the rate of CPL

Finance Facilities as a1 31 December 2004

EWLAT X L 2 n

FIXED INTEREST MATURING IN
Notes Total Nondnterest Floating 1yearorless Over1year More than$5-
. bearing  interestrate fo 5 years years
$m $m $m Im $m $m
Financlal assets ) )
Cash and deposils 50.9 - 50.9 - L - -
Receivables 4 58.9 58.¢ - - : - -
108.8 . 588 50.9 - - -
Weighled average inlerest rate : 5.2%
 Financial liabilities - , ‘ _ 4 .
Interast bearing liabilities 11,13 256986 - 1,778.6° 100.0 620.0 200.0
“Trade and other payables 10 192.4 1621 - - - -
interest rale swaps - - {1.475.0) (508 - 1,3450 180.0
Farward start interest rate swaps . (1,100.0) - - -~ (450.0} . {650.0) -
Forward start interest rate swap maturities 1.100.0 - - . 5040 350.0 . 700.0
’ 2,880.7 9921 303.6 (350.0) 1,665.0 1,080.0
Weighted average interest rate ' 5.8% 4% 5.7% 58%
Net flnancial liabilities (2,780.9) {133.2) (252 7} 3500 (1,665.0} (1.080.0)

Urnrealised losses on interest rate swaps totafiing §15.5 million {Dec 2003: $3.8 milfon unrealised losses) have not been recognlsed in the :
financial statements as It is iatended the Trust wit! retain these swaps to maturity.

The et fair value of all other financial assets and fablliles approximates their carrying value.
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20. Finance facilities (Continued)

Finance facilities as at 31 December 2003

Financial assets
Cash and deposils
Receivables

Weighted average interest mate

Financiad liabilities
‘Interest bearing Jiabilitles
Trade and other payables
- Interest rate swaps
- Forward start interest rale swaps
Fonward start inferest rate swap maturities

Welghted averags interest rate

Net financiat fiabilities

Notes to Financial Statements
) FIXED INTEREST MATURING IN
Notes Total Noninterest Floating 1yearorless Over1year Morethan5
bearing interest rate to 5 years years
$m $m $m $m $m $m
44.0 . 44.0 . - -
4 48.0 46.0 - - - .
80,0 46.0 44.0 - - -
4.8%
‘11, 13 2,127.0 - 1,217.0 1000 $10.0 200.0
10 147.3 147.3 - - - -
- - (730.0) 190.0 640.0 (100.0)
(435.0) - . (285.0) (100.0) {50.0)
435.0 - - - 185.0 - 259.0
2,274.3 147.3 487.0- 5.0 1,335.0 300.0
5.7% 5.7% 5.9% 6.5%
(2,184.3} (101,3) (443.0) {5.0) (1,335.0) {300.0)
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Year ended 31 December 2004
. Hotel and Ma;sierplaﬁned Urban
Retall Office Industrial Jousism Communities Consolidatod
$m $ra $m $m $en $n
21. Segment information
Primary reporting - business segméﬂts
Year ended 31 December 2004
Total segment revenue a2 w81 273 §0.4 16 690.6
Share of net profit of Associates ‘ . a7 773 - 1.1 12 88.3
Unallocated revenua - 1.9
Revenue from ordinary activitiss . 780.8
" Segment result ' 2885 257 230 61,7 28 601.7
Rasponsible Entity’s fee 2nd cther ) : ’ A40.9)
Barmawing costs T ' {118.7)
Costs associated with merger proposals ’ ) . ) {16.6)
Net operating income . : 426.4
Segment assels . : 47722 30926 330.6 7258 36.1 | 84574
Unafiocaled assets . ' . : 130.6
Totl assets . C 6,007 .0
Segment liabilties . : 128 336 .85 83 01 . 158.3
Unaflocated liabilities . 2,844.3
Totat liabililes . : » : ©OTTE 0036
Invesiments in Associates 1462 10478 L 94 Y 12395
Additions o investment properties 369.2 285 341 1803 - 8121
Additions included in shares to Associates and other assets . I - 55.7 - T 108 657
Year ended 31 Docember 2003
. Total segment revenue %98 . 1824 27 480 - 611.9
Share of net profit of Associales 5.8 58.5 . o 0.1 63.7
-Unallosated revenue . : . o - : 48.0
Revenue from ordinary aclivities ‘ o ’ 7216
Segment result 266.7 1952 185 470 01 . 625
Responsible Entity’s fee and ofher . {27.1})
Botrowing costs ) {80.2)
Netoperaling income . . ) 420.2
Segmant assets o 3,817.9 29717 2925 5343 . %2 - 76428
Unaliocaled assels © . ' ) o ‘ . 52.5
Total assets- : : : _ : 95
Segment lisbifties 68.5 409 48 . 40 ) - 1272
Unaliocated liabilities : ‘ , : 22504
Tota! abifiies ‘ 33796
Investments in Associates 1245, 10505 - 82 26.1 12003
Additions to investment propertics 2010 4198 83.1 - 307 . 7346,
Addifions Included in shares to Assosiates and other assets - ' - - - . 26.1 - 26,1
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22. Transactions with Lend Lease Group

The Responsible Entity of the Trustis GPT Management Limiled, a wholly owned subsidiary of Lend Lease Corboraﬁon Limited.

" Detalls of the Responsible Endity’s fee are disclosed in Note 3. The Responsible Entity’s immediate and utimate holding
company is Lend Lease Corporation Limited.

All dealings between the Trust and Lend Lease Corporation Limited and it controlled entities and related parties (Lend Lease'}
are on normat commereial kerms and condiions and material dealings are reviewed by the Audd and Risk Management

Committee. All contracts are subject to commercial appraisal, on a basls acceptable to the Responsible Entity, by an extemal
valuer or a wﬁed external parly approved by the Responsxb!e Entity.

The foliowing transactions have taken place with the Lend Lease Group during the financ.:al year:

Consolicl!atecf - GPY

31Dec2004  310ec2003  31Dec2004  31Dec 2003
$m $ro . $m $m
'Capital expendiiure in relation to cantracts for devedcpment . ) E : .
‘refufbxshment ared upgrades. , ] S, 2869 242.0 - 1058 127.4
Purchase of Darling Park Stags 3 : : 30.0. 05 .- 0.9
' Praperty managemien! including property maintenance and - ' o ]
hsurance o . 00 280 .16.9 15.1 foen
Rental income from Lend Lease Group 57 - 82 57 8.2
income guaranteed by Lend Lease under daveiopm and - : .
sale agreements ’ : ‘ 02 . 04 - -
. GPTs share of Assodiates Responsable Entity v . . )
!ee { {reimbursement} (0 8} - 1.8 - ) -

Lend Lease Group companies or trusts managed by a Lend Lease Gmup company held units in !he Trust at
30 June 2004 as foflows: . . i

31 Dec Z0D4 31 Dec 2003
Units : Units

GPT Management Ltd as Tmstee and Respons«bie Entzty ’ -
far the GPT Sphit Trust . . 20,832,742 - 22,109.712 '

Lend Lease Corporatmn L:mlteg! - o 17,300,373 -
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23 Executives® & Director_s' Disclosures
{a) Compensation Policy
Diractors and Senior Executives

All GPT Management Limited d:rectors, execitives and employees are paid by Lend Lease Corporation. GPT Management Limiled receives a
- fee for managing GPT.

. Lend Lease’s Compensa!ion and Benefils Poliz;y is determined by the Lend Lease auard‘s Personnel and Otganisah'on Commitiee (P&O
Committee), The policy is t reward Senior Exectives with market competitive compensation and benefits, taking into account the
‘performance of the individual, GPT and Lend Lease. In assessing these benchmarks, Lend Lease takes account of expsrt advice and the
relevant extemnal comparators in the real estate and related sectors.

Lend Leasa's approach to execut:ve compensation is to provide a batance of fixed and performance based cash elements with arr emphasis
~ onintreasing ‘at risk’ compensation for Senior Executives and Executive Directors. Outlined below are the elements and the philosophy
behind them.

Compensation paid by Lend Lease i is demgned o be app rapriate and oompentrve on such issues as incentives, pensions, superamuaﬂon and
other benefits. .

V Basa Salary

Sataries are set al competilive Jevels, targeted at median againsl comparable companies with anniaf reviews to reflect market conditions and
persenal performance. For guidance, the P&0O Committee and various business based executives use information available in published job
matched surveys of similar companias. As appropriale, they also commission surveys to supplement the pubfished information. To ensure
proper process is followed for afl senior exewtives, alt proposed packages for direct reporis of the Lend Lease Executive Management Team
“tmembers requira prior approval from the Lend Lease Chief Executive Officer (CEQ).

The salaries of the Executive Directors and Spedﬁed Executives are sel by the P&O Commitise. Theze are determined in July of aach year.
The Committee is assisted in this review by the Lend Lease Corporation CEQ and the Head of Human Resources.

Short Term Incentives {STls)

Annual bonus payments are based upon aclual achievement measured against challenging financial, corporate and individual performance
-argats approved by the P&O Commiltee. Althcugh the performance miena are different for each executive, the pnndplas are simitar and
involve assessment of parformance acioss three areas: £
- Financial — achievement of profitabllify, eamings, tofal shareholder re!um and other relevant finandal targets; . .
- Personal - achievement of personal objectives related to specific non-financial business targets; and - ;
- Environment, Health and Safety —a number of Senlor Executives are also measured and rewarded according to the Gmup s
performance on Environment, Health and Safety Key Performancs Indicators and their personal commitment 1o them. .

If the full targel bonus is eamed, annual cash compensation wifl normaliy reach the upper quartile of the relevant employmeni market.
Annuat bonuses may be awarded in a number of ways:

- Cash
- Shares or awards issued under Lend Lease Employss Share Plans (ESP).

Long Tem lncentaves {LTIs)

The current Long Term Inventives were introduced and approved by the Board it 1999 and updated and axtended in 2001, 2002, 2003 and
2004.

LTI grants are normally made in July each year and are based on ocmpetitz‘ve remurieration practice. Granis also depend upon personal.
contrbution and potential, and are designed to retain and motivate high performing and key executives. The LTIs are in the form of an
Austiratian doliar figure ‘granf’, which is notionally ‘invested’ over time to deliver value depending on:

- whetherthe execulive remains with the Group — if the executive resigns before vesting, the grant will 1apse,

~  whether performance hurdles are achieved over the plan period —if the hurdles are not achieved, the grant will lapse; and
- the performance of the Lend Lease share price - the value of the grant on maturity, assuming performance hurdles have been mat, will

be determined in part by the rise in the Lend Lease share price. Current plans have hurdles which require above median perfcrmance against
A basketof Lend Lgase’s peer group companies (wtlﬁ 25% vesting at median performance rising to 100% at 75” percentile).

‘LTis are a cash progremme with payments made upon maturity if performance hurdies are mel

Under the 2001 and. 2002 LTIs, a Senlor Execittive’s initiaf dofkar ‘grant’ is normatly aflocated equatty, or otherwise 5t the discretion of the
Senior Executive or Board, between:
- Performance Shares {PSs) — the value of these will rise or fall with the value of Lend Lease shares; and
- ‘Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) ~ ifiese are payable only if the price of Lend Lease shares al the date of maturity is higher than at the
. date of the grant. The Senior Exewuve will receive nothing-in respect of these rights if the share price is {ower than the price at the date of the
 grant.
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23 Executives’ & Dife‘ctors' Disclosures (Continued)

S o Nt AR b T 5

{a} Compensation Policy {continueil)
Long Term Incentives {LThs) {continued)
" Forthe purposes of the aliocation, PSs are atiributed a value equivalent to the Lend Lease share price at or about the dale of the aflocallon,
- while SARs are valued at approximately ane third of PSs, which reflects their greater risk profile.
- Under the 2003 and 2004 LTI, the initial grant was made sofely in PSs.

Retention Awards

" When the Board befieves that an employee is an autstanding performer and that Lend Lease Corporation and its shareholders will gain from
ncentivising him or her to remain with Lend Lease, a retenBon award may be made.

SupemnnuafmnIPensmn Ptans

Pension plan arangements are in placs. In ﬂ\e past, Senior Execuwes (and other employees) joined either a defined benefit or a defined
contribution plan, Entry inte all defined benefit plans has now ceased across the Group All new Executive Directors and Senior Executives
have the opportunity to join defined contribution plans,

"Non Executive Directors
Compensation Policy - '

Directors’ fees have been set at $60,000 per annum for each Direcior covering all GPT Management board duties. The Chalrman’s fees are
two times the standard fees paid to a Director and the Chalrman of the Audit & Risk Mznagement Commitiee receives an additicnal $20,000
per annum. Other members of the Audit & Risk Managemant Commitiee receive $15,000 per annum. These Dirsctors’ fees are only payable -
15 non executive directors other than Eric Goodwin, who receives remureration from Lend Lease on a per-diem besis under a separale

consultancy agreement.

" All Directors’ fees are paid by GPT Management and not by GPT.

Peter Joseph, Matcolm Latham, Ken Moss and Elizabelh Nosworthy received addi uonal armounts for the period from 24 May 2004 1o 17 4
. November 2004 of $180,000, $72,000, $60,00D and $60,000 respectively for considerable additonal werk undertaken in retation to the Lend ;
- Lease Corporation/GPT merger proposal. For the perlod from 6 August 2004, supplementary per diem fees of $2,000 have been paid to Me
Latham, Mr Moss and Ms Nosworthy, and $6,000 has been paid to Mr Joseph, for preparahon for and auendance at each substantive meeting.
Addi tsonai overseas travel ims is paid at $2,000 per day,

Brian Norris is a non executive director of Lend Lease Real Estale investments Limited and recelves remuneration from Lend Lease in that
.capacity. Mr Norrls is also entitled to a retirement banefit (2004: $208,957) from GPT Management equal to the total of the Director's fees paid
to him during the three year period prior ta his relirement. No othér directors are entitled to retirement bensfits.
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23 Executives’ & Direstors' Disclosures (Continued)

(b) Remuneration Details

Detalls of the remuneration of the directors of GPT Management Limfied and specified executives of GPT for the year énded 31 December 2004 are set ot in the followlng
{ables:

Primary - Post Empioyment Equity Other Benefils Total
hart Long . . ‘
Term Term
Salary & Incentive incentive  Non Super.-  Retirement .
Fees Bonus® Bonus Monelary - annuation  Benefits -ESP/Other Temwinafion Prescdbed Dec 2004
o 3 $ S $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Specified Directors ’ .
Executive Directors
Non Cantinuing
Ross Taylor (appointed 28
Aptil 2004, retired 24 : .
November 2004)‘ 426,108 450917 259 501 373k 33,650 L4] 18,941 0 o $,198, 842
426,100 450,847 258,501 3,733 38,650 Q 18,941 4 0 1,198.842
Hon Executive Directors” -
Continuing . . .
Peter Joseph - Chatman | 258,750 ) 259,750
Erte Coodwin (appointed 24 ‘ ’ .
November 2004} . : 4,000 . - . 4,000
Maicolm Latham 132,000 132,000
. KenMoss . 140,000 . 140,000
Bran Nerris _ £0,000 i v 80,000
Elizabeth Nosworthy 135,000 . - 1354000
: 749,750 0 [] ] <] 0 9 . ] : [] 749,750
Non Continuing ’
Richard Longas - Chairman : .
{fetired 24 November 2004) 110,000 . 11Dp0D
: 110,000 0 9. 0 1) ') ] -0 1) 110000
Total Specified Directors k] 285,850 9,50% 3,733 33,650 0 13,841 [] 0 2058592

1 -Employed by Lend Lease Management Services Limited. Disclosure refers 1o the period of e served as a D:radorontha GPT Board. Bonuses ard other
paymerds have been pro-rated over this time unless samad directly within this period. Ross Taylor’s primary role isin manayng the Asla Pacific and Amencas
- businesses for Lend Lease, .
2 Salaryand¥Fees for Nan Enecm;ve Directors includes fees lof attending, chaifing and travelfing to Board and Board Committee meeongs
3 AllShod Tenn Imerd:vebonuseshavebeenpaiﬁ in cash and based upon the parformance criteria as oullined in secion 23a, Bonuses Felate o the ful
year ended 30 Juns 2004, as the six months lo 3t December 2004 s not determinable at repotting date -

Post
Primary . Employment  Equity - Qiher Benefits Todad -
Short 'Long
Term Term
Salary 8  Incentive (aceative - Non Super- ,
Fees Bonus' Bomus Monetafy  anntation  ES5PiOther Termination Prescribed Other Dec 2004
$ $ $ $ . $ . $ $ $ 5 $
Specified Executives '
Continuing . . N
Mic Lyons ~- CEQ 455,632 377,025 212004 . 6400 38,992 12,807 . [} 0 0 1,102,680
Michae! O'Brien - Fund ) :
Manager ’ : © 359,835 169,137 54,358 12,233 28,738 13,931 0 o 0 619,232
Kieran Pryke - CFO 259,263 91 599 28497 6,400 22,44y 10,405 : 0 0 Q0 415595
Donine Byme - fnvestor :

. Relations and Marketing .
Manager 182,379 66,502 14,255 0 15,555 7,295 . o 0 0 - 285986
James Coyne - Genersl '

Counsel and Secrelary ’

(appointed 1 July 2004) 108970 28,806 o 75 8,223 4362 0 o 0 150,446
1,346,069 733,068 306,152 25,108 114,851 48 880 9 0 0 2574149

Non Continuing

Michaet Neilson - General

Counsel and Secretary {retited

30 June 20604) 122787 49,047 9,16¢ 10,452 5,255 18.574 [ 0 4,701

. 122,487 43,047 a,18 10,457 57255 18 574 0 0 14,708 -

Tota! Specified Exedutives 1‘453.256' 762,418 306,15, 34,234 125,403 54,055 18,574 [] 0 2,788,850

1 All Bhort Temn incentive bonuses have been paid in cash and based upon the performance criteria as outfined in section 23a. Bonuses retate to the full
year endad 30 June 2004, as the si months to 31 December 2004 is not determinable atrepomng data.
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23 -Executives’ & Directors’ Disclosures {Continued)
(¢} Long Term incentives

Performance Stares (PS), Retention Shares and Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR) Year Ended 31 December 2004

Award Vatue
. . ) Expé'y or . atGrent,
Sernvice  Performance Incentive Grant  Ewercise ExercisaPrice?  Number Oate
Criteria Criteris Granted’ Date Date 4 Geanted $
Specified Executives | . . . . R
Nic Lyons Criteria 1 Criteria 2 | PS5 July 2003 June 2006 NJA 23,816 203,520
Criteria 3 Criteria 2 PS July 2004 June 2007 N/A 41477 428395
Kichaei O'Brien Crterla 1 Criteria 2 PS July 2003 June 2006 N/A 7723 65,397
Kigran Pryke : Criteia 1 Criteia 3 L{Le July 2002 June 2065 NA 3,837 41,864
‘ Criteria 1, Critsia 3 SAR July 2002 June 2005 10.50 13955 41,864
Donna Byme Criteda1  Criteria 3 e July 2002 June2005 - MA 2229 23,405
Criteda  __ Crlteria 3 SAR July 2002 June 2005 10.50 1802 23,405

James Coyne ) . Nif Nit Nit - Ni Nt il Nil il

1 Performance Shares ({PS}, Retention Shares (L1C) or Stock Appreciation R‘lgh:s {SAR).
2 Performancs and Retention shares do not have an exercise price, as they ane paid ot al the share pnce at exercise date.
Rass Taylor is not inciuded due 10 retirfing from the Board 24 November 2004,

Criteria 1: Forfeiture on rosignation or termination. Pro-rata on other sendce cessation.

Cllesla 2 Total Shareholder Ratum (TSR) of Lend Lease Corporation Shares at or abave median when compared to the TSR for 18 comparator
organisations.

Crteria 3. Deperdent upon the executive remaining with Lend Lease unﬁ the vesting date,

{d) Equity Holdings and Trensactions

GPT Unitholdings Year Ended 31 December 2084
Units Received Other Net
Units Held 1 as Changeto Urdts Held
Jan 2084  Remuneration Units 31 Dec 2004

Non Executive Directors : . ’ -
Petar Joseph . : 50,000 . 50,000

Eric Goodwin (appolnted 24 . .
November 2004) - Nil L
Malcolm Latham . 13,495 13,195
Richard Longes [rotired 24 . . ’
November 2004)‘ . 15,702 - CONA
Ken Maoss 25000 25,000
Brizn Norrts . 4,097 4,097
Elizabeth Nosworthy . 5,000 _ 8,000
Specified Execulives :
Nic Lyons ‘ : hif N
Michael O'Brien Nit - . NE

- Kieran Pryke . ’ 53 ’ 53
Dannz Byme ) . . - 16,000 (10,000} © NR
James Coyna N Nit
Michaet Neilson {retired 30 June ) :
2004y’ . Nil ‘ N/A

123,847 © (10,000} 87.345

1 Hoiding nol disclosed as at 31 December 2004 due to retirement from the board during the year,
Ross Tayler’s holdings have not been disclosed dus to s period of service on the Board faffing during the 2004 year,

{e) Service Agreements

Specified Executive Directors and Executtves '
The major provisions of the service agreements.held with the specified Executive Diractors and Execuwgs ate as follows:
- them are no fixed terms of agreement;
- slandard nolice pariods apply;
.= remuneration is reviswed annually. Refar to Note 23a for further delails and conditions;
- execulives are eligible for STis. Refer to Mote 23a far further details and conditions;
- executives are eligible for L¥1s. Refer to Notes 23a and 23¢ for funther detaits and conditions;
- Unlass otherwise stated teminaton payment includes base salary for remaindsr of fotice period not served (up to 12 months}, pmﬂ;ted ST
antiiements and LTI entitiements per L Tl rules.

Saeciﬁed Noa Executive Directors
Independent Directors are endorsed by Unitholders upen appointment and every thies years theraatter,




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes fo Financial Statements

24, International Financial Reporting Standards

Tae Trust wil pfepére its audited finandal statements for the half year ending 30 June 20'05 and the year ending 31 December '

2005 in compliance with Australian equivalents to Intemational Financlal Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements for
2004 will ba the fast annual financial statements o be prepared according fo Australian generally accepled accounting practices
{AGAAP). The financial statements for the half year ending 36 June 2005 and ths year ending 31 December 2005 will include

" comparative amounts that have been restated to comply with the Australian equivalents to IFRS. Most adjustiments required on

‘transifion to IFRS will be made retrospecﬂvely against opening relained eammings on 1 January 2004.

GPT Management Limited, the Responsitie Enttty of the Trust, started a pmject to address IFRS conversion in eary March 2003,
under the management of its Chief Financiai Officer. IFRS training of personnel has been initisted and will continue during 2005
The differences between AGAAP and IFRS identified 1o date as potentially having a sugm!icam effect on GPT's ﬁnandal
performance and financial posntson are summarised below.

Investment preperties
Initial impact on retained earnings ai
January 2004

Investment properties will conlinue fo be measured at falr value however movements’
in fair value will be recognised in the Staternent of Financial Performance mstead of
being racorded directly in equity.

Volatility in future eqrnings Cerlain real estale mvestments currently classed as investment property, such as -
propesties under construction, may not mest the IFRS definition of investment
property. Therefore, a separate class of assets may be shown on the Statemem of
Fmaoc:al Position,

Lease incentives GPT will recognise the aggregale cost of incertives in the form of cash, rent fres

inittal impact on retained ecrnings at |
Janwary 2004

May change the riming on the recogmuan of
lease rental income

" iperiods or lesses owned fitout as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on

a sfraight line basis unfess another systematic baslis Is representative of the time
pattem over which the benefit of the ledsed assel is diminished,

© Lease renial income

Initial impact on retéined earnings ar
Janzeary 2004

May change the timing on the recognition of .
lease rental incoms

GPT may be required to recognise rental income under leases which contain fized
increases (even if those fixed increases are a proxy for CP) on a straight ine basis
unless another systematic basis is representalive of the §me pattern over which the
benefit of the leased asset Is diminished. ,

Units on kssne
Initial impact on balancé sheet at 1 January

2004

Units mav be reclassified as debs

Units on issue may be classed as debt under the new definition of financiaf liabiity.
This arises becauss GPT has a fixed life of 80 years from the date of establishment

- {under its Trust Deed even.though that life can be extended.

Hedging’

.. Initial impact on retbine_'d carnings ai

January 2005

. Yoladlizy in futtire earnings

New assets and labilities recognised

GPT currently uses derivative contracts to economically hedge exposures to interest
rates. Under current Australan Accounting Standards, ail derivative confracts are
accounted for as hedges.

Under IFRS, all derivalive contracts, whether used for hedging purposes or not, will
be required to be camied on the statement of financial position at fair value,

For derivative contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting GPT will be requdred
{0 recogriise any subsequent changes in falr value in the statement of financial
performance. In order to quahfy for hedge accounting strict reguirements over hedge
designation, documentation and effectiveness must be satisfied. Derivative contracts
that qualfy for hedgs accounting wilf be accounied for as cash flow or faur value
hedges. .
Cash flow hedges are measured at fa;r value with changes in fair value :eoorded in
equily, 1o the extent that the hedge Is deemed effective, unli! the hedged transaction,
oceurs. Aty ineffective portion is recorded in tha staternent of ﬁnandal performance
immediately.

Fair value hedgss ars measured al fair value with changes: in fair value recorded in
the statement of financial perfarmance. Any offsetting changes in fair valus of the
dasignated hedged ilem are afso recorded in the staternent of financial performance.

Accounting policies

Changes in accounting policies will be recognised by restating comparatives rather
than making currant year adjustments with note disclasure of prior year effects.
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General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

Notes to Financial Statements

. International Fin‘ancial Reporting Standards {Continued)

The differences described above should not be regarded as a complete list of changes In accounting poficies that will result from
the transition o IFRS. Regutalory bodies that promulgate AGAAP and IFRS have significant ongoing projects that could affect the
differences between AGAAP and IFRS described above and the impadt of these differences relative to the enlily s Enancial
reports in the future. For these reasons it is not yet possible to quantify the impact of the transmon © IFRS onthe Group's

© financial position and reported results.

25,

26.

While the appEcation of IFRS may introduce volalilify into GPT's reparted results this will nol affect GPT's cash position or the
distributions that it pays fo unilhoiders. In April 2004, unitholders approved an amendment to the GPT Canstitution which enables
GPT to continue to distribule underlying earnings rather than ifs accounting income as determined under IFRS,

Maﬁers subsaquent to the end of the financial year

Takeover Proposal from Stockiand

On 8th November 2004, the Stockiand Group announced an unsoficited Eakeover offer for GPT, the offer is subject io a number of condilions. As.
at 10th February 2005 Stockland had received acceptaness of less than 0.9% of GPT units and has exiended the time for acteptance of its affer to
4th March 2005.

Cther nfonmation

‘Commencement date of the Trust

The Trust was constituted on 27 November 1970.

Life of the Trust

~ The Trust ends on the earfier of the 80th anniversary of the date of its establishment; ﬂle date determi}zed by GPT Management as the date on
- which the Trust is to be (enmnaied and the date on whlch the Trust is tenminated under GPT Consmubon or by law.

The princlpal activities of the Trust

GPT was established to provide a vehicle for investors o own a sha:e In 3 diversified porﬁoho of Auslralian property. During the financial year the
Trust prlncipally invested i propesty investments.

Potlicies for investments and borrowings by tha Teust

The Trust invests In invesiment grade property tb achieve income combined with the opportunity for capital growth for investors over a penod of
years. Investments in fand and buildings are purchased at independent valuation plus acqussmon cosis. Invesiments in refurbishments and
upgmdes are at cost.

Deposits made under deveibpment agreaments are at normal commercial money market lerms.,

Under the terms of the Trust Constitution, the Trust may borrow maney unseaured or secured by the investments of the Trust. Trust Porrowings at
31 December 2004 totafied $2,698.8 million which Is approximately 20.7% (Dac 2003: 27.6%) of fotal assets. This is within GPT's current poficy
range of 20-30% of total assets.

Property jointly owned
Retait

Eriha Fair is owned 50% by the Trust, through is inferest in the property and its 50% interest in Erina Property Trust. The other 50% is owned by
Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Limited (LLREIY), on behalf of ihe Unltholders in the Ausiralian Prime Property Fund Retail (APPFR’).

Macarthur Square is owned 50% by the Trust. The remaining 50% of Macarthur Square is held by LLRE! on behall of the Unitholders in the
APFFR.

The Trust and LLRE] have an equaf interest in Sunshlne Plaza. LLRElholds ths interest on behalf of ihe Unitholders in the APPFR.
Horton Parade and the Maroochydare Superstare Plaza are owned 50% by the Trust through its 50% interest in Horton Trust. The remaining 50%

- of Horten Trust is beld by LLREI on behalfof the Ummo!ders in the APPFR.
Plaza Parade in Maroodrydwe is owned 50% by the Trust. The remalning 50% of Plaza Parade is held by LLRE( on behalf of the Unitholders In

the APPFR.




General Property Trust and its Controlled Entities

" Notes to-Financial Statements

26. Other Information (Continued)
Property jointly ownad (continued)
Office . . .
* Australia Square is owned 50% by the Trust. The remaining 50% is owned by Paladin Ausiralia Limited on behalf of the Unithotders is the
Deutsche Office Trust.

The Trust has a 50% interast in Stage 1 and 2 and Cockle Bay Wharf of the Darling Park Complex, This interest comptises a 50% interest in the
Darfing Park Trust {through GEM Cormmerdal Property Trust) which holds a 60% interest in the Complex and & 50% interest in Darfing Park
Property Trust {through GEM Commercial Property Trust) which holds a 40% interest in-the Complex. An additionat 50% imterest in the Complax
is held by funds comprising the remalning 50% interest in the Darling Park Trust owned by the Onyx Property Group, and the remaining 50%
interestin Darling Park Property Trust is owned by AMP Capital frwestors Limited on behalf of the AMP Wholesale Office Fund.

The MLC Centre is owned 50% by the Trust. The remaining 50% is owned by Queensland Investment Corporaﬁon

Cmgroup Centre is owned 50% by the Trust The remaining 50% is owned by Macquarie Office Managemetﬁ Limited on behalf of the Unitholders
in the Macquarie Office Trust.

1 Farrer Place is owned 50% by the 1 Famrer Place Trust, of which GPT has a 50% interest and the other 50% heing owned by LLRE! on behalf of
the Unithoiders in the Australian Prime Property Fund Comamercial (APPFC’). The remaining 50% is owned by Deutsche Asset Management
{Aurstratia) Limited on behaif of the Unitholders of Deutsche Gffice Trust.

Industrial

The Austrak Business Park is owned 50% by GPT (through the GPT Industriat Trus{) with the remaining 50% being owned by Austrak AFM Pty
Lid.

Mixed .

- The Brisbane Transit Centre is owned by the Roma S'treet'Trvt_:sL Roma Stfest Trust and the B Class shares of Roma Street Operations Pty
Limited are awried 50% by the Trust. The remaining 50% interest in Roma Street Trustis held by LLRE! on behalf of the Unitholders of APPFC.
Hotel & Tourism
The Trust owns a 40% interest in the assets of 161 Sussex Street Pty Limited. The remaining 60% interest is held by Starwood Pacific Hotels Pty
_Umsied
Masterplanned Urban Communities

The Trust has a 49% interest in the Twin Waters Resort(ﬁ'amugh the' GPT Residential (Twin Waters) Trust. The remaining inlerest is ha!d by tend
. Lease Development Pty Limited.

The Trugt has a 49% intsrest in the residential and communities facifities components of the Rouse Hii Regional Centre project (through the GPT
Resudenua! {Rouse Hill} Trust. The remalning interest is held by Lend Lease Development Pty Limited.

Buy-back arrangement
As the Trust is listed buy-back an‘angements are not required,

Bonus issues
No bonus issues wars made duwring the year.




Directors' Declaration

The direclors of the Responsible Entity declare that ihe financial statements and noles of e Trust and #s controlled entiies (the
" consolidated entity} set out on pages 9 to 39:

‘(a} comply with Accounting Standards, the Corparations Regulations. 2001 and other mandatory professional- reporung requnrements
and

(b} give a true and fair view of the Trust and the consofidated entity's financial posmon as at 31 December 2004, and of thelr performance
as represented by the resulis of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date.

“in the directors’ opinion:
{2) the financlal statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and
{b) there are reasonable grounds to befieve thal the Trust will be able to pay rts debis as and when they become due ard payable.

This deciaramn is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

i g )
Director o ’ : o Director
GPT Management Limited

Svdney _
. February 2005
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ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2

201 Sussex Street
Independent audit report to the umtholders of GPO BOX 2650

. SYDNEY NSW N7l
General Property Trust DX 77 Sydney

' Austrahia

WWW.PWE.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 6000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited
financial report

This audit report relates to the financial report of General Property Trust (the trust) for the financial
year ended 31 December 2004 included on General Property Trust’s web site, The directors of
GPT Management Limited (the responsible entity) are responsible for the integrity of the General
Property Trust web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The
audit report refers only to the financial report identified below. It does not provide an opinion on
any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report. If users of
this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they
are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information
included in the audited finaricial report presented on this web site.

~ Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of General Property Trust:

*.  gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the
: financial position of General Property Trust and the General Property Trust Group (defined
below) as at 31 December 2004, and of their performance for the year ended on that date,
and ‘

. is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other
mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations
2001.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the
directors” declaration for both General Property Trust (the trust) and the General Property Trust:
Group (the consolidated entity), for the ycar ended 31 December 2004. The conisolidated entity
comprises both the trust and the entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of GPT Management Limited (the responsible entity) are responsible for the
preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting
records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the
accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Liability is limited by the Accountant’s Scheme under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW)
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Audnt appmach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opmlon to the umtholders of the trust.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature
of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of proféssional judgemcnt, selective testing, the
inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persnasive rather than conclusive
evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been dctected
For further explanation of an audit, visit our website

 hitp:/lwww . pwe.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents

fairly, in accordance with the Cor;oorazzons Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory -

financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of
-theirist’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented
- by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these pmcedures, ,which included:

. examining, on a test basis, information to provxdc evidence supportmg the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report, and

. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting pohcms and disclosures used and the
reasonableness of mgmﬁcant accounting estimates made by the directors.

When this audit report is included in an Annual Report, our procedures include reading the other
-information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any material inconsistencies
with the financial report.

While we considered the effectivencss of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or
management.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical proncuncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

PriccwaterhouseCobpers

_ \ ‘ Sydney
Partner ' : 10 February 2005
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Preliminary final report

Intoduced 31722/2003.

Name of entity

GENERAL PROPERTY TRUST

ABN or equivalent company
reference

58 071 755 609

Results for announcement to the market

Full year ended (“current period’)

31 December 2004

$A'm
Revenues from ordinary activities (1) _ up 53% to 6925
Adjusted for the proceeds on disposal of Springwood
& Prospect in 2004 and the disposat of units in listed
property frusi in 2003, revenues increased by 9.0% in
2004. ‘
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities afler tax attributable to  up 1.5% to 4264
members
Explanation - Refer ASX announcement
Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to members up 1.5% to 4264
Explanation — Refer ASX announcement
D‘istributioné ' Amount per securily | Franked amount per

' security

Final distributions | 1t N/A
Interim distributions {(six months) - 10.9 N/A

Record date for determining entitlernents to the June guarter | 22 February 2005

distribution

Date on which the December quarter distribution is payable | 25 February 2005

Distribution Reinvestment Prograrame

The Distribution Reinvestment Programme does not currently apply.

(1) Please note that the share of net profits from associates has been exchided from Revenues from ordinary

activities,

31122003
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NTA backing Current period Previous

corresponding

period
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security $3.02 3273

Control gained or lost aver entities during period

Name of entity (or group of entitics)

Date of gain or loss of control

" Interests in entities which are not controlled entities

Contribution to net profit (loss)

Name of entity Percentage of ownership
inlerest held at end of period or
date of disposal
Equity accounted | Current Previous Current period Previous
associates and joint period corfesponding SA'm corfespondi‘ng
venture enities - period period - $A'm
Roma Street Trust 50% 50% 5.1 5.1
Erina Property Trust 50% 350% 7.5 4.8
Horton Trust 50% 50% - 1.2 1.0
Darling Park Trust 50% 50% 1222 194
“Darling Park Property

Trust 50% 50% 143 14.1

2 Park Street Trust 50% 50% 20.1 19,5

161 Sussex Street v

Pty Ld 40% 40% 0.5 {0.9)

1 Farrer Place Trust 50% 50% 16.2 0.6
Lend Lease GPT (Rouse | 49% 49% - -

Hill} Pty Limited

Lend Lease (Twin 49% 49% 12 101
Water) Pty Limited

Total 88.3 63.7

Details of aggregate share of profits {lossés) of associates and joint

venture entities

Group’s share of associates’ and Jomt

venture entities':

Share of net profit (loss) of associates and joint

ventures entities.

Current period

A$m

- corresponding

Previous

period - A3 m

88.3

63.7

To be read in conjunction with the most recent annual financial report.

31/12/2003
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, Condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

Current period — Previous
A m comresponding period
- A$m
1.1 Revenues from ordinary activities (see ifems | 692.5 857.9
1.23-1.25)
1.2 Expenses from ordinary activities (see ifems | (235.7) (221.2)
1.26 & 1.27) .
1.3 Borrowing cosfs (118.7) (80.2)
1.4 Share of net profits (losses) of associates
and joint venture entities 88.3 63.7
1.5  Profit (loss) from ordinary activities 426.4 420.2
_ before tax
1.6 Income tax on ordinary activities (see note 4) - -
1.7 - Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after 426.4 420,2
tax
1.8  Profit (loss) from extraordinary items after tax B N
{see item 2.5)
1.9  Net profit (loss) 426.4 420.2
1.10 Net profit (loss) attributable to outside *equity - -
interests ' :
1.11 Net profit {loss) for the period attributable | 426.4 420.2
to membess o
Non-owner transaction changes in equity
112 Increase {decrease) in revaluation reserves §79.2 235.0
1.13 Net exchange differences recognised in
equity
1.14  Other revenue, expense and initial
- adjustments recognised directly in equity
: {(attach details)
1.15 Initial adjustments from UIG transitional
: provisions
1.16 Tolal transactions and adjustments 579.2 2350
recognised directly in equity {items 1.12 to
1.15) .
1.17 Total changes in equity not resuiting from ’
transactions with owners as owners 1,005.6 855.2
3171242003 Appendix 4E Page 3
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~ Earnings per security (EPS) Current period Previaus
corresponding
: period
1.18 Basic EPS afier (losses)gains on 21.3¢c 21.6¢
~ disposal of properties ‘
Basic EPS before {(losses)gains on
disposal of properties 22.0c 21.6¢
118 . . , :
Diluted EPS N/A N/A

Notes to the condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

Profit (loss) from ofdihafy activities attributable to members

Current period — Previous
A m corresponding period
-Af m
1.20 Profit (loss) from ordinary activiies after
tax (item 1.7} 426.4 420.2
121 | ess (plus) outside *equily interests - -
1.22 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities
after tax, attributable fo members 426.4 420.2
‘Revenue and expenses from ordinary activities
: Current period — Previous
- ASm | corresponding period
-ASm
1.23 Revenue from sales or services
1.24 Interest revenue 11.4 9.5
1.25 Other relevant revenue ' . .
Rent 660.6 §05.9
Share of net profits from associales 88.3 63.7
Other ' - . -
" Proceeds on disposal of properties 205 N
Proceeds on disposal of units in listed ) P
properiy trust ] 1 : 3
Other income '
1.28 Details of relevant expenses
Rates, taxes & other property outgoings 146.4 138.2
Repairs and maintenance 1.0 _ 9.1
Provision for doubtful debts 0.1 05
Audit and accounting fees 0.8 0.8
Borrowing costs 118.7 80.2
Responsible Entity's fee 35.5 : 256
Other _ 5.8 5.8
Book value of property investments sold 18.6 : -
Costs Associated with merger proposals 16.5 -
Book value of units in listed property trust - 41.2
127 Depreciation and amortisation exciuding - -
amortisation of intangibles (see item 2.3)

3171272003 : E Appendix 4E Page 4




Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

Capitalised outlays

1.28

1.29 Outlays capitalised in intangibles (unless

Interest costs capitalised in asset values

arising from an *acquisition of a business)

20.3 , 17.5

Consolidated retained profits

1.30

1.31

1.32

1.33

1.34

Retained profits (accumulated losses) at
the beginning of the financiat period

Net profit {Joss) altributable to members
(item 1.11)

Net transfers from (to) reserves (defails if

‘material)

Nel effect of changes in accounting

policies

Dividends and other equity distributions
paid or payable

Current period —

Previous

ASm corresponding period

7.6 0.7

426.4 420.2

18.2 -

{443.6)

-A%m

(413.3)

1.35

Retained profits {accumulated losses)
at end of financial period

8.6 ' 7.6

Intangible and extraordinary items

Consolidated - current period
Before lax Related tax Related Amount (after
A m A$ m outside tax) :
*+equity attributable to
interests members
A$ m A$m
(a) (b) (©) (d)
2.1 Amortisation of goodwill
22 Amortisation of other
intangibles
2.3 Total amortisation of - N/A N/A N/A N/A
intangibles
24 Extraordinary items
{(details)
25 Total extraordinary N/A N/A N/A N/A
items
31/12/2003 Appendix 4E Page 5
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Comparison of half year profits Current period - Previous year —
AZ m A% m

3.1 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary 218.5 o 208.6

aclivities after tax attributable to members

reported for the 1st half year (item 1.22 in

the half yearly report)
3.2 Consolidated profit {loss) from ordinary 208.9 ' 211.6

activities after tax attributable to members :

for the 2nd halif year
31/12/2003 Appendix 4F Page 6
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3i/12/2003

Condensed consolidated statement | Atendof Ozurrem} As showlfn in l?tst
. ves peri annual repo
of financial position AS A$ m
Current assets
4.1 Cash 50.9 440
4.2 Receivables 58.9 46.0
4.3 Qther {provide details if maierial) 135 14.6
4.4 Total current assets 123.3 104.6
Non-current assets
45 Investments (equity accounted) 1,239.5 1,209.3
4.6 QOther investments 7,734.2 6,381.2
- 47 Total non-current assets -8,973.7 7,590.5
48 - Total assets 9,097.0 7.695.1
Current liabilities ‘
49 Payables ' 192.1 147.3
410  Interest bearing liabilities 1,071.8 775.0
4.11 Provisions exc. tax liabilities 1129 105.3
412  Total current liabilities 1,376.6 1,027.6
Non-current liabilities
4.13 Interest bearing liabilities 1,627.0 1,352.0
414  Total non-current liabilities 1,627.0 1,352,0
445  Total liabilities 3,003.6 - 2,379.6
4.186 Net assets . : ' €,093.4 5,315.5
Equity
4,17  Capital/contributed equity 4,598.5 4,400.8
4,18 Reserves 1,488.3 907.1
418  Retained profits (accumulated losses) 8.6 7.6
420  Equity attributable to members of the | 6:093.4 5,315.5
parent entity
421 Outside *equity interests in controlied
entities - -
4.22  Total equity | 6,093.4 5,315.5
4.23  Preference capital included as part of 4.17 | -
Appendix 4E Page 7
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Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows
Current period’ Previous
At m corresponding
. ' period - AS m
. Cash flows related to operating activities
5.1 Receipts from customers 698.5 610.2
52 Payments to suppliers and employees (276.2) (186.7)
5.3 Distributions received from associates 90.9 56.3
5.4 interest and other items of similar nature received |  9-4 14.4
55 Interest and other costs of finance paid (132.5) (97.5)
5.6 Net operating cash flows 390.1 398.7
Cash flows related to investing activities _
5.7 Payment for purchases of property, plant | (748.5) (732.1)
: and squipment
- 58 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and | 95.1
eguipment
590 {Increase) in olher financial assets (65.7) (22.8)
510  Net investing cash flows (719.1) (754.9)
Cash flows related to financing activities
5.11 °  Proceeds from borrowings 7719 766.0
5.12 Repayment of borr_owmgs
513 Dividends paid {436.0) (409.4)
- 514  Net financing cash flows 335.9 356.6
515  Netincrease {(decrease) in cash held 8.9 (1.6)
5.16 Cash at beginning of period . 44.0 45.8
' {see Reconciliation of cash)
5.17 Exchange rate adjusiments
5.18 Cash at end of period 50.9 44.0
{see Reconciliation of cash) '
Reconciliation of cash
Reconciliation of cash at the end of the period (as Current perijod Previous
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows} to Abm corresponding
the related items in the accounts is as follows, period - A3 m
6.1 Cashon hand and at bank 50.9 44.0
82 Deposifs at call
6.3 Bank overdraft
, 6.4 Other {(provide details)
6.5 Total cash at end of period (ifern 5.18) 50.9 44.0

311272003
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Appendix 4K

Preliminary final report
~ Other notes to the condensed financial statements
Ratios Current period Previous
corresponding
period
Profit before tax / revenue
7.1 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary 61.6% 63.9%
activilies before tax (ffem 1.5) as a
percentage of revenue {item 7.1)
Profit after tax / *equity interests 7.0% 7.9%
- 7.2 consolidated net profit (loss) from
" ordinary activities after tax attributable to
members (fem 1.11) as a percentage of
equity (similarly attribuiable) at the end of
the period (ilem 4.22) :
Dividends (in the case of a trust, distributions)
81 Date the dividend {distribution) is payable 25 February 2005
82 *Record date to delermine entillements to the dividend | 22 February 2005

{distribution) (ie, on the basis of proper instruments of
transfer recsived by 5.00 pm if Tsecurities are not

+*CHESS approved, or security holding balances
established by 5.00 pm or such later time permitted by

SCH Business Rules if *securities are TCHESS

approved) :

Amount per security

e A

Amount per Franked Amount per
security amount per security of
security at foreign
% tax source
: : dividend
(Preliminary final report only)
9.1 Final dividend: Current year 11.1¢c N/A N/A
9.2 Previous year 10.7¢ N/A N/A.
(Half yearly and prefiminary final reports)
9.3 Interim dividend: Current year 10.9¢ N/A N/A
94 Previous year 10.5¢ N/A N/A
3171272003 Appendix 4E Page 9




Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

Total dividend (distribution) per security {interim plus final)

(Preliminary final report only}

Cument year

Previous year

1 0.’1 +o!-dinary securigles 22.00 21 2c
10.2 Preference securities N/A N/A
Issued and quoted securities at end of current period
‘ L Issue Amount
Category of *securities Total number Number quoted | price per | paid up
security | per
, 3 security
*QOrdinary securities 2,016,716,610 2,016,716,610
NiA N/A
31/12/2003
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Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

Compliance statement

1 This report has been prepared in accordance with AASB Siandards, other AASB
authoritative pronouncements and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views or other
standards acceptable to ASX (see note 12).

Identify other standards used | N/A

2 This report, and the “accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the
same accounting policies.

3 This report does give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see note 2).
4 This report is based on "accounts to which one of the following applies.
({Tick one) . :
‘/ The "accounts have been D The Taccounts have been
audited. subject to review,
] The “accounts are in the The *accounts have not yet / 2y
process of being audited been audited or reviewed. =

or subject to review.

5 The entity has a formally constituled audit committee.

o Date: ./0/'2//03’

Signhere: ..o -t ¥ ol
' (Mﬂéﬁi‘%ﬁy Secretary)

f'/ James Anthony Coyne €

N
rint name: ‘
. U
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GPT HeNo3ssly

GENERAL PROPERTY TRUST

GPT Management
Lirrited ABN 54 000 335 473
as Responsitle Entity
and Trustee of
General Property Trust
The Manager ABN 58 071 756 60
Companies Section et 1
Australian Stock Exchange Limited (Sydney) © Tower Buiding
20 Bridge Street ) Ausiszlia Square
SYDNEY NSW 2000 Syanay NSW 2000
. Australia
By Electronic Lodgement GPT Unithokdir
Service Centra
Fraecats
. 1805 625 (95
Dear Sir Facsimite
02 9236 5020
GENERAL PROPERTY TRUST
GPT@lendleass.com.au
1. . Full Year Results e gplcom &u

GPT Management Limited, as responsible entity of General Property Trust,
releases the attached statement regarding the Trust's results for the twelve
months to 31 December 2004. Also attached are audited financial statements
for the twelve months to 31 December 2004 and ASX Appendix 4E.

2. December Quarter Bistribution

GPT Management Limited, the respongible entity of General Property Trust,
announces the following distribution for the quarter ended 31 December 2004.

(a)  Distribution — Ordinary Units

A distribution for the three months ended 31 December 2004 of 5.6
cents per General Property Trust unit will be paid by the Trust on 25
February 2005 (the distribution for the three months ended 31
December 2003 was 5.4 cents per unit and the distribution for the three
months ended 30 September 2004 was 5.5 cents per unit). .

(b)  Income Tax Deferred Component — Ordinary Units

The distribution advice for the December quarter will advise that
2.723086 cents (capital works allowance, depreciation and other
allowances} is income tax deferred for investors that hold their
investment on capital account.

The income tax deferred component will reduce the cost base (or
indexed base) in the vase of units liable to capital gains tax on disposal.



Company - GPT Management Limited
File No 34819

(e)  Distribution Reinvestment Plan

The General Property Trust Distribution Reinvestment Plan has been
terminated and will not apply to these distributions.

(d) . Books Closing Date

In aceordance with Listing Rule 3A(5), we give formal notice that the
register of unitholders of General Property Trust will close at 5.00pm, 22
February 2005 for the purpose of determining those unitholders entitled
to participate in the distribution for the quarter ended 51 December
2004, payable on 25 February 2005.

Documents will be accepted for registration until 5.00 pm on the books
closing date at the Sydney Register only:

Securities Registration Services
ASX Perpetual Registrars Limited
- Level 8, 80 George Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Yours faithfully

James Coyne
Company Secretary




